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Accident, Incident

An accident is something that happens unexpectedly or by chance especially something unpleasant, undesirable.
eg   1. Her father was killed in a car accident.
2. There was a serious railway accident near London yesterday.
3.He had an accident at work. A crate fell on him and injured his shoulder. (Such accidents are officially called industrial ac​cidents.)
4. — John's left the door unlocked.
  — I'm sure it was an accident.
5. — I'm afraid I’ve broken a glass.


—Oh, don’t worry. Accidents will happen.
By accident is used in the same sense as accidentally in such sentences as:
6. Our luggage was sent on to Rome by accident.
An incident is an event, especially one of relatively miner importance. It is not necessarily unexpected or unpleasant.
eg 7. There were several amusing incidents during the journey. In one of them Alan got off the train to buy a newspaper and nearly got left behind.
8. She told us about an incident in her childhood which had made a deep impression on her.
9. He tends to exaggerate the importance of minor incidents.
Incident is also used more specifically to denote a relatively minor hostile act, for example, a protest, an attack, a clash between small numbers of troops.
eg 10. The Conservative candidate was shouted down in
an incident at last night's election meeting.
11. A bomb exploded in a department store in Lon​-
donderry yesterday. No one was killed but several  people were injured in the incident.

12. There have been several border incidents during] recent weeks.
With reference to a literary work (a story, novel or, play) incident has practically the same meaning as episode, that is, a piece of action which can be considered sepa​rately.
eg 13. The incident in the restaurant shows Brian’s 'character very clearly.
Incidental means “occurring as an occasional part, accom​panying but not forming an essential part.”
eg 14. That conversation was purely incidental. Every​thing had been decided long before.
15. He was given an extra $50 to cover incidental expenses.

Incidentally means “by the way”
eg 16. I'm sure you'll enjoy the book. Incidentally, the author went to the same school as my brother.
Exercise. Which of the two words accident or incident would you apply to the following situations?
1. Your mother burns herself with an electric iron. 2. You leave the key in the lock of your front door. 3. There is a confrontation between some strikers and the police. 4. Some workmen on a build site are injured by falling bricks. 5. During a performance of “Hamlet a cat walks onto the stage. 6. A bomb explodes in a street in central London. 7. A friend of yours drops tea on a book which you have lent him. 8. Some foreign soldiers are driven back by border guards. 9.A car crashes into a tree. 10. While walking along the street you stopped by a man who mistakes you for a friend of his. 11. A forest fire is started by a cigarette end thrown down by a hiker. 12. A holiday-maker is drowned while bathing. 13. A customer in a shop is un justly accused of stealing. 14. An intruder manages to get into Bucking​ham Palace. 15. Your sister slips on the ice, falls and breaks her arm.
Appear, Seem, Turn Out, Prove
Appear and seem both mean “to give the impression of being”. (Appear also has other meanings, one of which is discussed below.)
Seem is more widely used in this sense than appear  which is confined mainly to formal style. Thus in some sentences either verb can be used, the difference being stylistic.
Eg. 
1.      She seems/appears (to be) happy.
2. He seemed/appeared surprised by the news.
3. It seems/appears that there has  been an accident..
4. It seems/appears so.
5. —I've been walking in the rain.
              — So it seems/appears.( = Your wet clothes give that impression.)

Seem and appear in such sentences usually correspond to казаться. However, they are by no means always appropriate translations of this Russian verb. For example, they should generally be avoided when translating such sentences as:
a. — Он, кажется, родился в Москве.
b. — Кажется, он написал новую книгу.
c. — Пора, кажется.

Here I think or I believe (more formal) are usually the best translations.

eg 6. — I think/believe he was born in Moscow.
7.— I think/believe he's written a new book.
8.— I think it's time (to go/start, etc.).
Seem and appear (in the sense discussed above) can express only the imperfective aspect (Russian казаться, оказываться). The idea expressed by the Russian verb оказаться (i. e. the perfective aspect) is rendered by turn out (to be) or prove (to be).
eg. 9. Он оказался прав.
He (turned out, proved) to be right.
10. Женщина оказалась известной актрисой.
The  woman (turned out, proved) to be a famous actress.
11. Оказалось, что наши друзья уже уехали.
It turned out that our friends had (already) left.
Prove is more formal than turn out, and less widely used in this sense. In addition, it cannot be followed by that... in sentences like no. 11 above.
Another meaning of appear (in fact its main meaning) is “to come into view, to become visible”.
eg 12. As Janet was looking across the field the figure of a man appeared in the distance. As he came nearer she recognized him as the owner of the nearby farm.
In such sentences appear usually corresponds to the Rus​sian появляться/появиться. However, it should not be used as an equivalent of the Russian verb to mean simply “come in/along”, etc., “enter”, “arrive”, as in the following sentences:
· As they were discussing what to do next, their father appeared in the room, (=came into the room)
· The day after the article was published, seven art-dealers appeared at the Powells' house(=came to, arrived at)
In such cases appear gives a slightly ridiculous impression of becoming suddenly visible. Here come in(to)/along, etc. enter (formal style) or arrive should be used, according to the context.
eg 13. As they were discussing what to do next, their father came into the room.
14. The day after the article was published, several art-dealers came to/arrived at the Powells' house.
The colloquial use of появляться in such sentences as Он появился только в 10 часов can be translated by turn up.

15. He didn't turn up till ten o'clock.
Exercise 1. Translate the following sentences into English.
—Она, кажется, довольна. 2. —Где Юра? — Кажется, он болен. 3. Без мебели комната казалась просторнее. 4. К ее удивлению, комната оказалась совсем крошечной. 5. —Ребенок, кажется, спит. 6. —Мне показалось, что она что-то скрывает. 7. —Оказалось, что они уже знакомы. 8. Обещанный дворец оказался скромным одноэтаж​ным домиком с полуразрушенным (dilapidated) крыльцом. 9. Охотнику показалось, что сзади хрустнула ветка. (Use to crack.) 10. Казалось, дождь никогда не кончится. 11. —Он, кажется, специалист по сер​дечным заболеваниям. 12. При проверке оказалось, что информация, изложенная в статье, соответствует действительности (Use to be cor​rect.) 13. —Он,  оказывается, только вчера приехал. 14. Молодой че​ловек, с которым он ехал в поезде, оказался коллегой его отца.
Exercise 2. Read the following sentences, saying in each case wheth​er you think the use of appear is justified or not. If you think not, replace it by a more appropriate verb, for example, come (in/alon, etc) enter, arrive.
1. Soon a small dot appeared in the sky above their heads; it was the long-awaited plane. When it landed two men appeared. 2. There was a sound of voices in the corridor; then the door opened and Mr. Dent appeared in the room, accompanied by his secretary. 3. The crowd suddenly moved and one of the brothers was pushed into the road. Just at that moment a bus appeared and knocked him down, killing him instantly. 4. About ten minutes after the lesson had started, the com​manding officer appeared in the classroom. 5. As Derek was waiting for the boat back to the mainland a naval officer appeared before him. 6. The ship appeared on the horizon. 7. At about eleven o’clock, when everybody was going to bed, Martin appeared at the house and asked if he could stay the night. 8. Jill turned away, overcome by grief, and stepped into the road. A lorry appeared but she did not seem to notice it. 9. Lord Moping’s doctor said that he was making good progress and would appear in a few minutes. 10. Two hours later Mr. Loveday again appeared in the asylum, saying that he had enjoyed his outing but would now stay there for good. 11. —He promised to come at four but didn’t appear until nearly six. 12. It was not long before the po​lice appeared and began asking questions.
Big, Large, Great
To denote simply size (more than average size) either big or large may be used (or, in a few cases, great). (See below)

	a big room/flat/house              or
	    a large room/flat/house

	a big town/city
	    a large town/city

	a big field/park/garden
	    a large field/park

	a big bag/suitcase
	    a large bag/suitcase

	a big knife/fork/plate
	    a large knife/fork

	a big meal/breakfast/dinner
	    a large meal/breakfast

	a big apple/pie/cake/loaf
	    a large apple/pie/cake, etc


The difference here is stylistic; big is more colloquial than large. Thus in conversation and informal writing big is the usual word, whereas in formal style (especially in writing) large is generally preferred. Compare the following pairs of sentences:
  eg 1. a. — Is it a big town? (informal style)
b. John Smith was born in Bingley, a large town in the north of England, (formal style)
2. a. — This suitcase isn't big enough. (informal)
b. Next day a distinguished-looking man arrived at the hotel, carrying a large suitcase. (formal)
3. a. — We shall need a big room for the meeting.
(informal)
b. The meeting was held in a large room on the first floor. (formal)
Big and large can also be used in this way with ref​erence to people, in the sense of not only tall but broad.
eg 4. He was a big/large man.
However, big, when applied to people or their actions, often acquires a slightly different meaning.
(1) grown-up, older;
eg 
5. Don‘t cry. You’re a big boy/girl now.

6. Where's your big brother/sister?

(2) important, well-known;

— the Big Three/Four/Five, etc. -the most important or prominent few in any affair, for example, the founders or leaders of a party or movement.

— a bigwig (sl.)—an important person, especially a senior official.

eg 7. They invited all the local bigwigs to the opening of the exhibition.

— a big noise/shot (sl.) -  an important person

eg 8. He‘s a big noise/shot in the steel industry now.

(3) on a large scale;

— big business — large business enterprises and organizations, especially collectively (sometimes with sinister implications)

eg 9. The new law will be very unpopular with big business.

— a big landowner — a person or collective body which owns a large amount of land.

eg 10. Some farmers rent their farms from big landowners.
In these expressions big cannot be replaced by large.

In some idiomatic expressions big refers to a person's opinion of himself or to his behaviour, often in a derogatory sense:

· big-headed(sl.) — conceited                   - used mainly by children
· a big head (sl.)  — a conceited person    - used mainly by children
· to get/grow too big for one’ boots (sl.) — to become conceited

— to talk big (colloq.) — to talk about one's activities, plans, etc. as if they are (or will be) on a very large scale

— big words - words which suggest something very significant or on a large scale

— to think big — to think (in the sense of plan) on a large scale (not usually derogatory)
· to have big ideas - to be ambitious (not usually derogatory). Also used with the preposition for.

eg 11 He's got big ideas for his son.
Big is also used with certain nouns derived from verbs plus the suffix -er, to mean someone who does something a great deal:
eg 12.   — He's a big eater.
13. - She's a big spender.
However, there are not many such combinations and in other cases great is used instead. (See below.)
The sense of “important” is associated not only with people and their activities, as shown by the following ex​amples.
13. — The big moment came at last.
14. — It's a big decision.
15. — The big question is how to get the money.
Big is used with some abstract nouns, especially nouns denoting an emotion, for example, surprise, shock, disap​pointment, relief.
eg 17. It was a big surprise to everybody. 
18.His death (was, came as) a big shock (to them).
19. It will be a big disappointment (to her).
20.It's a big relief to know that John is safe.
Help is also used with big in a similar way:
eg. 21. Thanks very much. You've been a big help.
In the above examples big is characteristic of colloquial English. In more formal style great is used instead. (See below.)
Large is used in certain expressions of quantity:
a large amount/quantity/number on a large scale
22. He inherited a large amount of money from his uncle.
These expressions are confined to formal style.
Note that great can also be used in some cases. (See below.) 
great
In some combinations great has preserved its old mean​ing, denoting large size or extent.
(1) in proper names;
eg The Great Fire of London (1666)
The Great Bear (constellation)
The Great War — the earlier name for what is now called the First World War (1914-18)
The Great Lakes — in Canada
Great Portland Street — in London (and other street names)
The Great Vowel Shift (in phonology)
The expression GREAT HALL is used as a proper noun in many universities to denote the largest (and most impor​tant) room, used not only for lectures but for meetings and ceremonies.
(2) in expressions of quantity such as: 
a great deal/amount/number/many
eg. 23. He spent a great deal of time collecting material for the new book.
24. He has published a great number of articles.
25. The palace has a great many fine rooms.

(3) with many abstract nouns denoting qualities, emotions, states, etc. 
Here it  denotes extent or degree:
	great care

	wealth
	distress

	attention

	poverty
	agitation

	difficulty

	ignorance
	pain

	effort

	danger
	shock

	progress

	courage
	relief






disappointment

eg. 26.         You must take great care of this book. It's very valuable.
27.         He had great difficulty in persuading his par​ents.
28. His death was a great shock to everyone.
29. They lived in great poverty.
30. Great attention is paid to pronunciation.
Great is also used with nouns formed from a verb plus the suffix -er to denote a person who does something often or on a large scale.
eg 31. — He's a great reader/ traveller/theatre-goer/talker.
Such combinations are used mainly predicatively, as in the above examples.
In colloquial style great occurs with big as an intensifier (=very):
32. They live in a great big house in the country.
In other cases, however, great does not refer to size or degree, but to quality. For example, it often means distinguished, eminent, especially when applied to people or their activities.
eg a great man/scholar/writer/actor/leader
a great city
a great work (novel, picture, etc.)
     a great speech
It has this meaning in such proper names as Alexander the Great and Peter the Great.
Sometimes it is closer in meaning to important, as in:
33. This is a great occasion.
34. The great day arrived at last.
In highly colloquial English great may be used in the sense of splendid, wonderful, especially in interjections.
eg 35. — We've got a day off tomorrow.
— Great!
36. — That's a great idea.
37. — Do you know this record?
           —  Yes, it's great.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with big, large or great, taking the style (formal or informal) into account where necessary.
· (In a book) George Brown grew up in a ... industrial town. 2. — I need a ... box to put these things in. 3. —Pass me a ... spoon, please. 4. —Shaliapin was a ... singer. 5. (In a newspaper article) A ... number of people were injured in the explosion. 6. (In an essay) In addition to their town house they had a ... estate in the country. 7. There’s a ... park near our house. 8. —Philip has made ... progress this term. 9. —These shoes are too ... for me. 10. (In an essay) Among the works on show was a ... portrait by Titian. 11. (In a magazine arti​cle) Doctors do not recommend having a ... meal in the evening. 12. Is he a ... eater? 13. The pronunciation of the first vowel in Christ​mas was not affected by the ... Vowel Shift. 14. (In a report) They ordered a ... quantity of paper. 15. —Jenny is a ... reader. 16. (In an official announcement) The lecture will be held in the ... Hall. 17. — Tony has ... ideas but he isn’t very practical. 18. (In a prospectus) The university has a ... library covering all branches of knowledge. 19. (In a newspaper article) When allocating council houses and flats, priority is given to ... families. 20. —Some of his works are very original but I don’t consider him to be a ... composer.
Britain, Great Britain, England; British, English
Britain is the name of the whole country, which con​sists of England, Wales, Scotland and Northern Ireland.
Great Britain includes England, Wales and Scotland, but not Northern Ireland.
The most official name of the state is in fact the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, generally abbreviated to the United Kingdom or designated by the initials U.K. (The U.K.)
The British Isles is a geographical name, denoting the whole group of islands, and thus including all of Ireland.
The relation between these names can be seen from the following table:
	England

Wales

Scotland
	Great Britain

	Britain or the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Northern Ireland (the U.K.) 

	The 

British 

Isles

	Northern Ireland
	
	
	

	The Irish Republic

	
	
	


The corresponding adjectives are as follows:
England — English 
Wales —Welsh
Scotland — Scottish — the most widely-used form
Sometimes Scotch, as in Scotch whisky and Scotch pan​cakes, or Scots, as in Scots pine.
Northern Ireland — Northern Irish
Great Britain, Britain - British
The United Kingdom (U. K.) — there is no correspond​ing adjective
The words United Kingdom or the initials U. K. may be used attributively

eg. The United Kingdom (U.K.) delegation.

Great Britain is sometimes used in practically the same sense as Britain, to denote the whole country, but this is not to be recommended on the whole. Note that both Great Britain and Britain are officially translated into Russian as Великобритания, although some Russian writers use Британия as a translation of Britain.


The fact that in Russian it is acceptable to use Англия instead of Великобритания in non-formal style should not lead Russian speakers to use England instead of (Great) Britain. For example, a person who was born in Glasgow will be offended if he is told that he comes from England or is described as an Englishman. In fact he comes from Scotland, or (Great) Britain. With people who really come from England, the distinction between England/English and Britain/British is not so important in such cases. We may say that a person born in London or Bristol or Manchester comes from England or from (Great) Britain. Here England may be preferred because Britain sounds more formal.
With reference to the whole country, however, only Britain/British (or the United Kingdom) should be used. Here are some expressions with the adjective British:
· the British government
  Prime Minister army
 embassy, ambassador
-      a British citizen, British citizenship
-      a British passport
- British industry/agriculture
There are some cases where British is not appropriate because there is not a single system for the whole of Brit​ain. This applies in particular to education and law, where Scotland and Northern Ireland, which were joined much later than Wales, have their own systems. Thus we say:
· the educational system of England and Wales
The English educational system is also used for convenience, to avoid the clumsy English and Welsh educational system.
the educational system of Scotland/Northern Ireland | Scottish/Northern Irish educational system
— the English/Scottish/Northern Irish legal system
· English/Scottish/Northern Irish law
Although there are some customs which are common to all parts of Britain, or at least Great Britain, many others are restricted mainly to one part of the country. Thus we often speak of an (old) English/Welsh/Scottish/Irish cus​tom. With reference to food (traditional dishes, etc.), English/Welsh, etc. is more common, and also when talking about national character (the Welsh, Scots and Irish, unlike the English, are Celts). Humour, too, is English or Welsh or Scottish or Irish, not British. As for art, it can be either English/Welsh/Scottish/Irish or British, depending on whether artists from one part of the country or from the whole country are included.
In sport, there is a difference between the British team, (representing the whole of Britain, or sometimes Great Brit​ain) and the England team (representing England only). Note the use of England here. English team may mean simply a team of Englishmen, not necessarily representing England as a whole.
Exercise 1. Fill in the blanks with Britain, the United Kingdom or England and any other necessary words.
1. The official name of the whole country is ... . 2. Great Brit​ain consists of ... . 3. Scotland had four universities by the 16th century, whereas ... still had only two. 4. The Australian Prime Minister is on an official visit to ... . 5. —I’ve bought a book called “The Educational System of ... and Wales.” 6. Unemployment is much higher in Northern Ireland than in ... as a whole. 7. He was born in Wales, but his parents moved to ... when he was only five. 8. The Bank of Scotland prints its own banknotes but they are accept​ed all over ... .9. Many Indian doctors now work in ... . 10. —Last year I went to ... on a language course. (The course was held in Cambridge.)
Exercise 2. Fill in the blanks with British, English or England.
1. 10, Downing Street is the residence of the ... Prime Minister. 2. —Is he a ... citizen? 3. —Do you like ... food? 4. Kissing under the mistletoe is an old ... custom. 5. The ... team reached the final in the World Cup. 6. According to ... law, all firearms must be registered. 7. —You must get a visa from the ... embassy. 8. The ... educational system often seems complicated to foreigners. 9. He served in the ... army for many years. 10.— I went to an exhibition of ... portrait -​painting in the eighteenth century. 11. Not everyone appreciates ... humour. 12. The ... flag is called the Union Jack. 13.— What do you know about the ... character? 14. The Confederation of ... Industry is a body representing all employers in the industrial sphere.
Comfortable, Convenient

Comfortable is formed from the noun comfort, which means “physical well-being, a state free from pain or irritation”. Thus a comfortable chair is one in which the body feels at ease, comfortable shoes are ones which do not cause the feet any pain or irritation. Comfortable is most often used of chairs, beds, etc., clothes, houses and flats (meaning comfor​tably furnished) and means of transport. However, it may be used in a wider sense, to mean.
(1) having or providing comfort:
eg 1. He has a very comfortable life.
2. They have a comfortable income.
(2) simple and undemanding;
eg 3. His life had settled into a comfortable routine.
It is also used of sick people, meaning “free from excessive pain”, “as well as can be expected”.
eg 4. The patient was said to be comfortable after the operation.
Convenient means “avoiding trouble or difficulty”, or “serving to make a task easier”. Thus a convenient time for a meeting is one which fits in well with one’s other activi​ties, a convenient place is one which is easily reached, and so on. Various tools and household appliances (for example, washing machines, electric mixers, potato-peelers) can be called convenient.
Convenient can be compared with comfortable in the fol​lowing examples:
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with comfortable or convenient. In cases where both are possible, explain the difference in meaning.

1. —Will ten o’clock be a ... time for yon? 2. — There isn’t much food value in packet soups but they’re very ... . 3. —I think you will be more ... in the armchair. 4. —1 want to put on some more ... shoes to go shopping. These are hurting me. 5. — The Red Arrow is the most ... overnight train to Moscow. 6. — The bed in the hotel was very ... . 7, —Foil is very ... for storing food and for cooking, too, for example, roasting chicken. 8. The medical report said that the patient was ... . 9. —I like this skirt because it’s so ... . 10. — Their flat is more ... than mine. 11. In the evening he liked to relax in a ... chair and read or watch television. 12. — It’s very ... to book tickets by tel​ephone. 13. —Is your timetable ... this term? 14. (Hostess to guest) — Please make yourself ... . 15. —Instant coffee doesn’t taste like real coffee.—No, but it’s very ... . 16. — This settee can be pulled out to make a bed. — How ... ! 17. A successful barrister has a very ... life. 18. The hours (of work) are not ... for women with children but the management refuses to change them.

Company, Firm, Enterprise

Most business organizations in Britain and the USA are officially called companies. (There are various types of com​panies, whose legal position is fixed by company law.) How​ever, since company has various other meanings, we do not usually say simply He works for a company but, for example,
1. He works for a steel/oil/shipping company.
Note the use of the preposition for here. It is also used with the names of companies, state-owned organizations, etc.
Dunlop. ( a company which produces rubber goods)
BP. (=British Petroleum)
ICI. ( = Imperial Chemical Industries) 
  the Post Office.
Company occurs in conversation and informal writing (as can be seen from example 1 above) but firm is often used instead here.
    a chemical firm.
eg 3. — He works for      an electrical engineering firm.
    a firm of architects.
Note that firm is preferable to company in any style when followed by of, as in a firm of architects above, or when followed by the name, as in, for example, the firm (of) Ponds (a cosmetic firm).
However, firm is not used as an alternative to company in all spheres. For example, it is not used instead of compa​ny in film/television company.
Note also that neither firm nor company is used of an organization which organizes air travel. This is an airline.
Enterprise is not widely used in the sense of a business organization. The meaning is not even given in the SOED or the COD, which defines the word as follows;
Undertaking, esp. bold or difficult one; courage, readiness to engage in enterprises, as “He has no en​terprise.”
(The second sense corresponds to the Russian предприимчи​вость).
Hornby does not give the meaning of a business organi​zation either, but it is included in Chambers’ and Webster’s definitions: “a business concern” (Chambers); “a business or​ganization” (Webster). Enterprise seems to be used in this sense only occasionally when the meaning is implied by the context, or when qualified, as in “an industrial enterprise”. To speak about enterprises in general, without a context, or to say, for example, that someone works at an enterprise (in the sense of работает на предприятии) is not at all clear. Besides, enterprise is confined to formal style. (In some cases работать на предприятии may be translated as work in industry.)
Enterprise is also used uncountably in the following econ​omic terms:
· private enterprise — the carrying on of production, com​merce, etc. by private individuals or companies, not by the state (частное предпринимательство).
eg 4. The Conservative Party supports private enterprise whereas the Labour Party favours nationalisation.
· free enterprise — the conduct of business and commerce with the minimum of government control.
eg 5. The supporters of free enterprise claimed that the principle of supply and demand was more effective than government controls in regulating the economy.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with company, firm or enterprise (sg. or pl.). Note that in some cases there may be two versions, one more colloquial than the other.
1. When she left school she got a job with a publishing ... . 2. In the Soviet Union all industrial ... are state-controlled. 3. This ... produces a wide range of high-quality leather goods. 4. The ... he works for is closing two of its factories so he may be made redundant soon. 5. Mr. Richardson is an expert on ... law. 6. The famous English conductor and producer Sir Thomas Beecham showed great ... in inviting the Russian opera to London for the first time in 1913 and renting Drury Lane Theatre for the season because his associates at Covent Garden did not think that such a tour would be successful. 7. The Baltic Shipping ... (Балтийское морское пароходство) was established in 1922. 8. They offered the contract to a local building ... . 9. The actors are English but the film was made by an American film ... . 10. Her husband works for a civil engineering ... in Bristol. 11. A mixed economy is one with a combination of nationalisation and private ... . 12. Twinings is a fa​mous English ... of tea merchants.
Director, Manager, Head, Chief, Boss

Director has two main senses, one in the sphere of busi​ness and the other in the arts, especially the theatre and cinema.
In industry and commerce, a director is a member the board (called the board of directors) which directs or manages the affairs of a company on behalf of the shareholders. A company usually has between ten and twenty directors, some of whom may work part time. (Some are directors of more than one company.) The occupation of such a person is called company director. The head of the board of directors, who is always full-time, is the managing direc​tor.
There is now an increasing tendency to call a person who is in charge of a particular department or aspect of the company’s work a director, for example: sales director (in charge of organizing the sale of the goods produced), export director, and so on. Such people were traditionally called managers, but the title director is considered to be more prestigious.
In the theatre and cinema, director denotes the person who stages the play or makes the film, deciding how to in​terpret the text, instructing the actors, and so on.
Director is also increasingly used to denote the head of various institutions, such as museums (instead of the tradi​tional curator), art galleries, research institutes, and so on. It is rarely used of the head of an educational institution, although at least one polytechnic has a director and the tend​ency is increasing. The head of some local education auth​orities is now called the director of education, instead of the traditional chief education officer.
A manager is a person who runs a hotel, shop, restau​rant, etc. оn behalf of the owner, or who is responsible for a certain department of a big organization, for example, a commercial company. Companies may have a production man​ager, a sales manager, an export manager, and so on. (See also director above.)

A theatre manager, in the commercial theatre, is the per​son who manages the building on behalf of the owners, makes arrangements for it to be used for one production af​ter another. There are also managers responsible for partic​ular aspects of the administration or the production: the box-office manager is in charge of the sale of tickets, the house manager is responsible for the house or auditorium, and the stage manager supervises the arrangement of scen​ery and props on the stage.
Management is used to denote collectively those who manage a business organization or an institution.
eg 1. The hotel / restaurant / shop is under new manage​ment.
2. Pay negotiations between the unions and the man​agement will start tomorrow.
3. The management announced that the theatre would be closed until September 30th.
Head is used alone mainly in a general, descriptive sense.
eg 4. The head of a museum is called the curator or the director.
It also occurs in colloquial style as an abbreviation of headmaster / headmistress.
eg 5. — I've got to go and see the head now.
Otherwise it is used attributively, as in head waiter, head porter or with of, as in head of department, head of the Eng​lish Department (in educational institutions).
Chief is not generally used alone in Britain to denote the person to whom one is responsible, but in specific titles such as:
chief accountant/engineer/librarian
chief education officer – head of a local education authority
chief constable — head of a local police force
chief inspector — a senior rank of police officer
Commander-in-Chief — of the armed forces
However, there is now a tendency, probably American, to use chief as a general term to denote the person at the head of any organization. This is particularly noticeable in newspaper headlines.
eg 6. AIRLINE CHIEF SACKED
The American use of chief to denote the person to whom one is responsible at work (eg I must ask my chief) is rare in Britain and when it does occur it is in the sphere of commerce and industry. It is not used at all in educational institutions, in the sense of head of department or supervi​sor, even in colloquial style.
Boss is a colloquial word widely used in Britain to de​note the person to whom one is responsible, in business organizations, government offices, and so on, instead of using his/her official title (eg ... manager /director, chief ...).
eg 7. — My boss said I could leave early today.
8. — You'd better ask the boss first.
However, it is not customary in educational institutions.
Boss is also used in a wider sense to mean “the person in charge, the one who decides”.
eg 9. — I'm the boss here.
10.—He likes the work because he's his own boss. ( = he decides everything himself).
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with director, manager, head, chief or boss
1. (Customer to shop assistant) — I’m not satisfied with your ex​planation. I should like to speak to the ... . 2. The play has been staged by a young ... called John Drury. 3. —What does her hus​band do? — He’s a company ... . 4. —You must get permission from the ... librarian first. 5. (Schoolteacher to new colleague)—If any​body behaves very badly, send him to the .... 6. (In an office) — Andrew, the ... wants to see you. 7. —John’s been promoted to ... engineer. 8. —Who is the ... of the German Department? 9. The open​ing of the exhibition was attended by the ... of the Tate Gallery. 10. —He is export ... in a big chemical firm. 11. —What is the ... of a local education authority called? — Usually the ... education offi​cer, but sometimes ... of education. 12. —The hotel ... offered to move them to a better room. 13. Scotland Yard sent ... Inspector Ferret to investigate the crime. 14. —It’s a very interesting film.—Who’s the ... ? 15. The ... waiter showed the distinguished company to their table.
Factory, Plant, Works, Mill
Factory is the usual word in Britain for a building (or set of buildings) where goods are produced. It is a general term and includes all types of industry, both heavy and light.
eg 
1. There are a lot of factories in my town.
2. Most factories have their own canteen.
3. He works at/in a factory or: He's a factory worker.
4. British factory workers usually have a fortnight's annual holiday.
Plant is also used in this general sense, mainly in Amer​ica.
eg 5. The students may learn how to observe the operation of an industrial plant, (from an American book on education).
In Britain it rarely occurs in this general sense. However, it occurs increasingly instead of factory to denote a particu​lar building (or set of buildings) for industrial production or processing.
eg 6. Several thousand workers at the Perkins plant at Peterborough are threatening to go on strike unless the company improves its latest pay offer. (Perkins is the name of the company.)
Plant is also used now in Britain to denote one of the various production units belonging to the same company, of​ten in different parts of the country. For example, it is pos​sible that the Perkins company mentioned in sentence 6 above has one or more other plants in other towns. Here are two more examples:
7.Shop stewards from the Dunlop rubber plant at Speke (near Liverpool) have called a mass meeting for Sun​day morning. (The Dunlop Rubber Company has sev​eral plants.)

8. Workers from the Massey Ferguson plant in Kil​marnock
 Scotland) will lobby MPs on November 30 in their fight against the closure of the plant. (Massey Ferguson is a large company which makes tractors.)
This use of plant is particularly common in the mass media (the above examples are taken from newspapers) but it is creeping into conversation, too. While He works at a plant sounds rather  strange. He works at the Perkins plant (in Peterborough) or He's been transferred to the Bradford plant sounds quite natural. Another example, taken from a conversation about an engineer working for a large chemical firm, is He's been made manager of the plant where he works.
Note that plant in such cases refers only to the place where goods are produced and not to the whole company. That is why it is spelt with a small letter in the above exam​ples.
Although plant tends to be associated with heavy indus​try rather than light, there seems to be no clear-cut distinc​tion in usage. Plant is not used in contrast to factory, but rather as an alternative in some cases. We do not speak of factories and plants, since the two words are synonyms in a general context; we simply say factories (at least in British English), as in examples 1-4 above.
In combination with the name of a particular product either factory, plant or works may be used, as illustrated low. The choice depends partly on the type of industry : partly on traditional usage. Factory has the widest application, plant is confined mainly to heavy industry (although this may be changing) and works is used nowadays on к certain traditional combinations. Here are some examples:
	factory
	works
	plant

	car factory
	car works
	car plant

	
	
	automobile plant

	
	
	(AmE)

	chemical factory
	chemical works
	chemical plant


	steel factory
	steel works
	steel plant

	furniture factory
	glass works

	

	clothing factory
	brick works

	

	shoe factory 
	printing works

	

	toy factory
	water works

	

	china factory
	gas works

	

	watch and clock factory
	
	

	sweet factory
	
	

	chocolate factory
	
	


If in doubt, it is on the whole best to use factory, at least in British English.
All three words are also used to denote the place where the goods are produced (or processing is carried out) in con​trast to the offices, the administration. In British English factory and works are the most usual in this situation.
eg 9. The sales manager rang the factory/works to find out whether the goods were ready.
   10.That's the responsibility of the works manager. (the person in charge of production, not planning or sales, for example)
Mill is traditionally used in connection with certain in​dustries, mainly cotton and paper:
a cotton/paper mill
These industries, particularly cotton, were formerly located chiefly in the north-west of England (Yorkshire and Lanca​shire) and there mill was also used as a general term corre​sponding to Standard English factory.
eg 11. He works in a mill.
12. She's a mill-worker/mill-hand.
However, this use has decreased sharply in recent years.
Some industries have specific words used only with refer​ence to a particular product or process. The most common are:
· shipyard — builds ships
· oil refinery—refines crude oil
· bakery — makes bread, cakes, etc.
· dairy — bottles (and often delivers, too) milk and cream, makes butter, cheese, etc.
· brewery — makes beer
· distillery — makes spirits (whisky, brandy, gin, etc.)
Note also that the word plant has another meaning in ad​dition to the one given above. It can also denote machin​ery, equipment, etc. used in industrial processes. Hornby gives the following examples:
The farm has its own lighting plant, 
a generator for producing electric current.
We get our tractors and bulldozers from a plant-hire firm.
Other examples are:
13.The company has recently bought some expen​sive new plant.
14.The cooling plant has broken down and produc​tion has stopped.
The following traffic sign can be seen in England: 
CAUTION! HEAVY PLANT CROSSING
As one can see from these examples, plant in this sense can be used either countably, to denote a particular piece of equipment, or uncountably, in a collective sense.
In American English plant is used in a wider sense than any of those given so far. Besides the meaning “factory or workshop for the manufacture of a particular product”, Web​ster gives the following:
· the land, building, machinery, apparatus and fixtures employed in carrying on a trade or industrial business;
· the total facilities available for production or service;
· the buildings and other physical equipment of an in​stitution.
The last sense, which is not confined to industry, can be illustrated by the following quotation from an American
book on education: “The latter (= the research-oriented universities.) should be characterized by the super, strength and quality of its library, its laboratories, its plant, its faculty (= academic staff.)
Exercise 1. Fill in the blanks with factory, plant, works or mill or pl.), giving alternatives where possible.
1. The company is to close its Nottingham ... at the end of the month 2. —My brother works in a ... . 3. —They didn’t like the house  because it was near the gas ... . 4. There are several car ... in Birmingham. 5. The faulty goods must be sent back to the ... for inspection. She never eats chocolate  at home because she works at a chocolate ... . 7. He applied for a job at the local steel ... . 8. —The air :c our district is very clean because there are no ... there. 9. In the north of England ... (pl.) used to be called ... (pl.). 10. The printing ... is very badly equipped. Its ... is old and in a bad state of repair. 11. Worker at the Lucas ... in Coventry, which makes brake linings, have put in a  15% pay claim. 12. The Courtauld chemical ... employs several thou​sand people.
Exercise 2. What do we call the following establishments?
1. where crude oil is made suitable for use; 2. where milk and cream is bottled, butter and cheese made; 3. where bread and cakes are made; 4. where beer is made; 5. where ships are built.
Fairly, Rather, Quite

All these adverbs occur in the sense of “to a certain ex​tent, in some degree, moderately”.
eg. 1. Their flat is fairly/rather/quite big.

2. 

a fairly



It’s   rather an / quite an interesting book.

       
3.He speaks English fairly/rather/quite well.
Fairly, rather — are the words which are traditionally used to denote a moderate degree, the distinction between them being one of emphasis, that is, subjective rather than objective. They express not a different degree but a different attitude on the part of the speaker (or writer). In many cases fairly is used to denote a sufficient or desirable degree, whereas rather implies an undesirable degree. ‘Fairly’ is a step towards an ideal, but ‘rather’ is a step away from it; ‘fairly’ is half-way to ‘enough’, whereas ‘rather’ is half-way to ‘too’”. Compare the following pairs of examples:
4a. — How's your mother?

— Fairly well, thank you.

— I'm glad to hear that.

b. — My mother's rather ill.
—I'm sorry to hear that.
5a. — Sit here. This chair's fairly comfortable.

 b. — That chair's rather uncomfortable. Sit here in​stead.
6a. — This exercise looks fairly easy, b. — It looks rather difficult to me.
Here the words modified by fairly or rather themselves de​note a desirable or undesirable state, which makes the choice simple. However, fairly and rather may also modify ad​jectives and adverbs which are “neutral” in this respect, for example, those denoting size, position, temperature, etc.
eg 7a. — This room's fairly big. I think it'll do.

 b.— This room's rather big. Isn't there a smaller one free?
8a. — The water's fairly hot, so you can have a bath .
  b. — The water's rather hot. Wait a minute or you'll scald yourself.
Here the idea of desirable or undesirable degree is expressed only by fairly or rather and the choice is determined by the situation.
Rather may be used as a tactful alternative to too.
eg 9. — I thought of putting Michael in charge of the group.
      — He's rather young or: — Isn't he rather young?
However, rather does not always imply an undesirable degree; in some cases the contrary is true. It can be used with adjectives or adverbs denoting something pleasant or de​sirable with an intensifying effect, approaching very.
eg 10,-It’s (a rather, rather an) interesting book.
    11.He speaks English rather well.
   12.I thought she was rather pretty.
It should also be mentioned that rather can be used with a wider variety of parts of speech than fairly (meaning “to a certain extent”): 
· with comparatives and too:
13.— He's feeling rather better today.
14.— Your coat was rather more expensive than mine.
15. — This book is rather too difficult for the first year.
- with nouns

16.— It's rather a pity David can't come.
17.— He's rather a bore.
18.— £50 is rather a lot to pay for a dress, isn't it?
19.— Please ask me about it tomorrow. I'm in rather​  a hurry now.
· with verbs, including participles:
20.— I rather enjoyed the party.
21.— He seemed rather surprised when I mentioned it.
Fairly is not used in such cases (with certain rare ex​ceptions).
Finally, rather occurs as an emphatic affirmative response to questions and offers.
eg 22 — Are you going on the excursion?
· Rather.
23— Would you like some more cake?
· Rather.
However, this use is now rare and should be avoided on the whole. In reply to questions like no. 20 one should say either “(Yes,) definitely” or “(Yes,) I certainly am . The best response to offers like no. 21 is “Yes, please”, possibly adding, for example, “It's delicious.”
Rather alone should also be avoided in answers to such questions as:
· How big is your flat?
· Is it an interesting book?
· Does she sing well?
Here the usual response is “Fairly big/interesting/well” (with logical stress on fairly) or “Quite big/interesting/well (with logical stress on quite).
quite
There is a tendency in modern English to use quite not only in its original sense of completely or absolutely
eg 24.— You're quite right.
    25— I quite agree.
   26— He has quite recovered from his illness.
but in the sense of “to a certain extent”, instead of fairly or rather.
eg 27.—How are you?
— Quite well, thank you.
          28.— This book is quite interesting.
          29.— They've got quite a big house.
         30.— He speaks English quite well.
        31.—It's quite warm today.
       32.— I quite enjoyed the film.
This use of quite is now very common, especially in collo​quial English.
It may seem confusing at first sight that the same word can mean either “completely” or “to a certain extent”. In practice, however, sentences with quite are not usually am​biguous to English people, since the meaning of quite is de​termined by (1) the word which it modifies and (2) some​times, by intonation and stress.
Quite tends to be used in the sense of “completely” espec​ially with words and phrases denoting extreme states, such as: all right, alone, empty, exhausted, hopeless, impossible, mad, out of the question, ridiculous, right/wrong, still, sure, true, and verbs denoting completed actions.
eg 33. — I'd quite forgotten.
    34.— He's quite recovered.
   35.— I haven't quite finished.
There are also words which strictly speaking do not fit into this category but are traditionally used with quite in the sense of “completely, absolutely”: eg all right, differently), clear(ly), suddenly), unexpectedly) agree, understand.                       
In these combinations quite has an emphatic effect. Generally the main stress falls on the word or phrase modi​fied but quite carries a fairly strong stress too.
eg. 36 — You're quite right.
     37. — I quite forgot.
Occasionally the logical stress may fall on quite:
eg 38.—Are you sure?
—Yes, quite sure.
     39.—Is it quite hopeless?
With words expressing “relative” concepts, that is, those which may imply a greater or lesser degree, such as good, well, large/small, hot/cold, clever, interesting, etc., quite to mean “to a certain extent”.
eg 40. — How are you?
· Quite well, thank you.
41.— Marion wrote quite a good essay.
42.— Did you enjoy the book?
     — Yes, it was quite interesting.
43. — He can run quite fast.
44. — She comes to see me quite often.
45. — I quite like Julia.
46. — I quite enjoyed the film.
Here also the main stress usually falls on the word modi​fied, but quite is not stressed. The stronger the stress on the word modified, the more positive the effect. For instance, the more one stresses interesting in example 42 above, the more interesting the book is felt to be.
In this type of sentence quite is close in meaning to fair​ly and rather. There is very little difference between quite and fairly here. For example, we may say
· I’m quite well or: — I’m fairly well.
· Marion wrote quite a good essay or: ... a fairly good essay.
· He speaks English quite well or: ... fairly well
 with no change of meaning or emphasis. On the whole, how​ever, quite tends to be preferred to fairly in sentences of this type nowadays, at least in colloquial English. In addition, quite can be used with verbs (I quite like Julia), whereas fairly cannot (with certain rare exceptions). As for the dif​ference between quite and rather here, rather has a slightly more positive emphasis. For example, He speaks English rath​er well suggests a higher standard of spoken English than He speaks English quite well. Quite is more non-committal, neutral.
Owing to the “relative” meaning of words modified by quite in this sense, the logical stress tends to shift to quite more often, and it then restricts the meaning of the word modified, implying “not very”.

Eg. 47.Does he speak English well?
—Quite well.

48. — How big is their ﬂat?

— Quite ‘big.

49. —Is it an interesting book!

— Quite ‘interesting.

Quite also has various idiomatic uses. For example, it occurs as an expression of polite agreement, either alone or with so.

eg. 50. ~lt's a very difficult situation.

— Quite (so).

Note, however, that this use is confined to formal style. Quite means “at least” in such sentences as:

51.-— It must be quite six months since I last saw him.

It is also used in the expressions:

— quite a/some time = rather a long time.

eg 52. — We waited quite a/some time.

— quite a lot/few = rather a large quantity/number.
In spite of the difference in meaning between a lot and a few, these two expressions are practically synonymous.

Exercise l. Fill in the blanks with fairly or rather. using the former to denote a sufficient or desirable degree and the latter to denote an undesirable degree.

l. He is making  good progress. 2. His examination results were poor. 3. The room looked  clean. 4. The floor was  dirty. 5. —I’ve got a  bad cold. 6. I‘ll carry the suitcase myself. It‘s heavy. 7.I feel  tired today. 8. —This bread seems  fresh. 9. (In a shop) I like this shirt very much but it's . . expensive. 10. —We finished the work….  quickly. 11. —There may be some mistakes in the translation  because I did it…  quickly. l2.—I know him…well. 13.I’ve got a …good memory for faces  but I am bad at names.14.Aren’t you driving ….fast? This is a very narrow road. 15. This wood seems…  hard. It should be strong enough. 16. — I’m afraid  the butter is.. . hard. It‘s  been in the fridge.17. —They live…  near the university. 18. It’s  a long way to the station from here. 19. — The food was excellent but the wine ... poor. 20. —It’s ... warm today. I don’t think you’ll need a coat.
Exercise 2. Go through the sentences in Exercise 1 again, picking out those where you used fairly and reading them with quite instead.
Exercise 3. Reply to the following questions, using fairly or quite to denote a moderate degree, and the word in brackets. (Where no word is given, the same adjective/adverb is repeated in the answer.)
Model: A: How are you? (well) — B: Quite/fairly well, thank you. A.: Was the lecture interesting? — B: Quite interesting
Pay attention to stress.
1. —Is it a big house? 2. —Did you enjoy the film? (amusing) 3. — Is it warm outside? 4. —How’s your father? (well) 5. —Is their son tall? 6. —What was the hotel like? (comfortable) 7. —What you think of his wife? (seems — nice) 8. —Did you enjoy the  trip. (pleasant) 9. —Is the snow deep? 10. —What’s her English like? (fluent)
Exercise 4. Fill in the blanks either with fairly (denoting a sufficient degree) or rather as an intensifier with a meaning approaching  that of very.
1. —That dress suits you ... well. 2. —This wood is ... dry I think it will burn all right. 3. — This pencil seems ... sharp. 4. —I’m proud of that sweater. I’ve never knitted anything so big before. 5. —I thought the orchestra played ... well, didn’t you? 6. —The plums on this tree seem ... ripe. I think we can pick them. 7. —The little boy seems ... intelligent for his age. 8. The gallery has several ... fine landscapes by Constable. 9. —I need some ... thick paper drawing. 10. —I feel ... sorry for Brenda.
Grateful, Thankful

These two words are close in meaning but not synonyms. We are grateful to another person who has helped us in some way.
eg 1. We are grateful to you for your help.
    2.He was very grateful to his parents for lending him the money to buy a house.
We cannot be thankful to another person. This word is used when we are glad that something fortunate has happened, especially when something unfortunate might have happened. The original idea was thankful to God (cf. Thank God)
eg 3. I’m thankful John's safe. He might have been killed in that car accident.
5. You should be thankful (to have) escaped so lightly.

To be thankful for small mercies is a rather common expression meaning “to be glad that at least some minor aspects of the situation are favourable, that things are not worse”.
eg 5. Be thankful for small mercies.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with grateful or thankful.
1. I should be very ... if you would send me a copy of your book. 2. —I’m ... to my parents for giving me the opportunity going to university. 3. —I’m . . . that Philip didn’t go on the expedition. It turned out to be disastrous. 4. We are ... to our readers their letters. 5. —You ought to be . . . that you’ve got an interesting  job. Mine is deadly boring. 6. —Oh, well, I suppose we should ... for small mercies. 7. — I’m . . . the doctor came in time. 8. —I very ... to the doctor for giving Ann such good treatment. 9. —Paul’s_ very ... to you for your advice. 10. —I’m . . . Andrew didn’t cat measles from the other children. 11. —He should be ... to be alive. 12. She gave the assistant a . . . smile.
Greedy, Mean

Both these words can be translated as жадный but they are not synonymous.
Greedy means “filled with a desire to have, take more of something than is right or reasonable”. It often refers to food.
eg 1. Don't be greedy, Helen. Leave some sweets for the others.
However, it may also be used in other contexts, for example, with reference to money or other material posses​sions, or power.
eg 2. He was greedy for power.
Mean (in one of its various senses) implies lack of gener​osity, reluctance to give or share what one already has.
eg 3. — We're collecting for a retirement present for Mrs. Lewis. Would you like to contribute?
· Well, I'm rather short of money at the moment.
· Oh, come on. Don't be mean.
4. He's so mean he never invites anybody out.

Exercise. Which word (greedy or mean) would you apply to the be​haviour described in the following situations?
1. When Bill goes somewhere with other people (for example, to a restaurant, or to the cinema) he always tries to avoid paying. 2. Mary borrows her sister’s skates every time instead of buying her own, al​though she has enough money. 3. Paul took three pieces of cake one after the other. 4. Joan often goes to her friends for meals but never invites them to more than a cup of tea at her own house. 5. When there is a shortage of something Valerie buys much more than she really needs. 6. Peter never buys his children birthday presents. 7. Tony can afford to sit in the best seats at the theatre but he always buys the cheapest tickets. 8. When her friend offered her some apples, Susan took nearly all of them.
Much/Many, A Lot, Lots, Plenty

English people tend to avoid much and many in affirma​tive sentences. In informal style a lot (of) is used instead, with both countable and uncountable nouns.
eg 1. — I spent a lot of time on the beach.

2.— There's a lot of work to be done.

3.— A car costs a lot of money.
(with uncountable nouns)
     4.— He’s got a lot of money.

     5.— There were a lot of people at the bus stop.

     6.— I made a lot of friends at school.
(with countable nouns)
Such sentences as I spent much time on the beach, although grammatically correct, are practically never heard. Much does occur occasionally in affirmative sentences in formal style, but even here it is often avoided if possible. For example, instead of much time one can use a considerable amount of time, instead of much work — a great deal of work, instead of much money — a large amount/sum of money . As for many, it is avoided in colloquial English (in affirmative sentences) but is widely used in formal and semi-formal style.
eg 7. Many people in the town were left homeless as a result of the earthquake.
 8.The Hermitage collection of 19th-century French paintings is one of the richest in the world and contains many fine canvases by the Impressionists.
The usual pattern of usage in informal style is: affirmative sentences — a lot (of) negative sentences — much/many interrogative sentences — much/many This pattern can be illustrated as follows:
9a. — I spent a lot of time on the beach.
b. — I didn't spend much time on the beach.
c. — Did you spend much time on the beach?
10a. — He's got a lot of books.
b. — He hasn't got many books.
c. — Has he got many books?
Another illustration can be provided by question and answer.
11. — Did you spend much time on the beach?
· Yes, a lot or: No, not much.
12. — Has he got many books?
· Yes, a lot or: No, not many.
It is true that the most common way of replying to such questions is to say simply uYes” or “No", sometimes repeat​ing the auxiliary.
· Yes, I did or: — No, I didn't.
· Yes, he has or: — No, he hasn't.
However, the forms given above also occur as emphatic re​plies, especially the negative ones.

Although a lot {of) is characteristic of affirmative sen​tences, it is not entirely restricted to this type. It occurs also in negative and interrogative sentences, but comparatively rarely.
In these cases it generally expresses some special emphasis or implication. For example, the sentence Have: you got a lot of work? tends to imply a supposition on the part of the speaker that the person addressed has a lot of work, or at least may have a lot.
Lots (of) differs from a lot (of) in two respects: (1) It is more emphatic, implying a larger quantity or number (2) It is more colloquial.
It corresponds approximately to the Russian масса. It occurs mainly in affirmative sentences such as:
13. — They've got lots of money.
14. — There were lots of people in the park.
15. — 1 made lots of jam this year.
16. — I took lots of photos when I was on holiday.
17. — Did they ask you many questions?
— Yes, lots.
Plenty also implies a large quantity and is also colloqu​ial in this use. However, it differs from a lot and lots in that usually the quantity is directly related to a particular purpose or need. It means enough for the purpose and ever, more, enough and to spare. There appears to be no Russian equivalent for this sense of plenty. Here are some examples of its use:
18. — There's no need to hurry. We've got plenty of time.
(meaning not simply a lot of time but enough time to do what we have to do, and even some time to spare)
19. (To a person going shopping) — Have you got enough money?
— Yes, plenty, thank you.
(meaning enough money to buy what I need, and even more)
20. — I don't know you couldn't find out anything
	Type of Sentence
	Formal Style                     Informal Style

	Affirmative
	Much/ many

a great deal-UC

a large (amount-UC, quantity – UC, number - C)
	a lot

lots

plenty

	Negative
	not much/many

or reword as an affirmative sentence using little/few
	not much/many

	Interrogative
	much/many?
	much/many?


What has been said above about much refers only to its use as a pronoun. As for its adverbial use, the same tend​ency to avoid it in affirmative sentences can be observed. Thus sentences such as She reads much or He works much sound unnatural. Instead English people use a lot in infor​mal style.
eg 21. — She reads a lot.
22. — He smokes a lot.
23. - We travelled a lot in the summer.
With work the adverb hard is generally used.
24. — He works hard.
In formal style we find a great deal, or, less often, great​ly, or other, more specific adverbs such as widely, exten​sively, heavily, according to the context.
25. She reads a great deal / widely.
26. They suffered greatly / a great deal when their son was killed.
27.      He smokes heavily.

28.     They travelled a great deal/widely/extensively.
Very much, so much and too much are not subject to the restrictions mentioned above. In connection with very much, however, note that the use of much in such sen​tences as:
29. I was very much surprised to hear that he had left.
30. She was very much offended by his remarks.
is now old-fashioned or extremely formal. Standard usage in modern English, both formal and informal, is simply very.
31. —I was very surprised to hear that he had left.
32. — She was very offended by his remarks.
Finally here is a table of usage for adverbial much.

	Type of Sentence
	Formal Style
	Informal Style

	Affirmative
	a great deal

greatly

or more specific adv.,

according to the context
	a lot

	Negative
	not much
	not much

	nterrogative
	much?
	much?


Exercise 1. Give either an affirmative or a negative answer to the following questions.
Model: Student A: Have you got much work?
Student B: Yes, a lot or: No, not much.
If student В thinks that lots or plenty is appropriate, he may use it in​stead of a lot.
1. —Have you got much money? 2. —Did you pick many apples yesterday? 3. -—Have you got many letters to write? 4. —Do your par​ents travel much? 5. — Have you seen many Italian films? 6. — Is there much paper left? 7. —Did you meet many interesting people on hol​iday? 8. —Has Nina made many sandwiches? 9. —Have we got much time left? 10. —Did you do much interpreting at the conference?
Exercise 2. Contradict the following negative statements emphatical​ly, according to the model.
Model: Student A: You haven’t got much work.
Student B: I have. I've got a lot of work.
If student В thinks that lots or plenty is appropriate, he may use it in​stead.
1. They haven’t got much money.2. John hasn’t got many friend'. 3. You haven’t done much today. 4. They didn’t invite many people. 5. There aren’t many mushrooms in the woods. 6. You haven’t bought much bread. 7. They don’t watch television much. 8. She doesn’t eat many sweets. 9. They didn’t take many photos. 10. Ann doesn't smoke much. 11. You didn’t make many cakes. 12. Nicholas doesn’t do much preparation.
Exercise 3. Fill in the blanks with much, many, a lot (of) or some other expression of quantity, taking the style into consideration. In doubtful cases the style is indicated by letters: F (— formal) and IF (= informal).
1. —There are ... interesting books on sale. (IF) 2. —Have you got . . . work at the moment? 3. . . . people visited the exhibition. (F) 4. —I don’t spend . . . time watching television. 5. —A typewriter costs . . . money. (IF) 6. —Don’t hurry. There’s . . . time. 7. —Has he got . . . friends? 8. —Did you find . . . mushrooms? — Yes, .... 9. The president received . . . letters of protest. 10. — He smokes .... (IF) 11. —I’ve read . . . books by Graham Greene. 12. —There was . . . good food in the house, so we didn’t need to go shopping. 13. The interviewer asked him . . . searching questions. (F) 14. — ... roads are blocked by snow. (IF) 15. —Do English people drink . . . tea? 16. —I found . . . interesting material for my essay in the library. 17. —He works ... . 18. The man broke into the house and stole . . . money. (F) 19. —Does she read . . . ? 20. —They gave her . . . flowers. (IF)
Note (v), Notice, Take Notice, Mark, Pay Attention

Notice is the most widely used of these verbs and verbal expressions, and usually corresponds to the Russian замечать or обращать внимание. Here are some examples of its use in various types of sentence:
1. — She was wearing a new dress but he didn't even notice.
2. — Did you notice him hesitate?
3. She noticed that he left early.
4. — Alan was drunk tonight.
· Was he? I didn't notice.
5. — I noticed his car standing outside the house.
6. — Susan's always in a hurry to get home.
— Yes, so I've noticed.
Take notice is used especially in negative sentences, im​plying a deliberate withholding of one’s attention, disregard.
eg 7. She could see that the boy wanted to speak to her but she took no notice (of him).
8. — Margaret's always making sarcastic remarks about my work.
· Take no notice or: —Don't take any notice.
Pay attention is occasionally used in the sense of “no​tice” but it usually has a slightly different meaning, namely “to direct one’s thoughts consciously towards somebody or something.”
eg 9. — Pay attention to what you're doing. (=Don’t let your thoughts wander.)
This expression is used in the classroom.
10. — Pay attention (to what I’m saying).
(Note that attention alone is not used in this situation.)
11.- I wish you’d pay attention (to what I’m saying /to your work)
12.Pupil: I can't remember/I don’t understand.
Teacher: That's because you weren't paying attention (when / explained).
Except for the context of the classroom, however, pay atten​tion is seldom used in conversation. It is confined mainly to formal style, especially written English.
eg 13. The writer pays great attention to historical detail.
14.Greater/More attention should be paid to preven​tive medicine.
15.Artists of that period paid little attention to line, concentrating on colour.
Note has a similar meaning to notice, but with the addi​tional idea of remembering what one notices for the future.
eg 16. She noted that he gave no explanation or apology for his absence.
In the above sentence notice could be used instead, but this is not so in the following sentences:
17.Note the use of the definite article here/spelling of the plural.
18.Note that “penny” has two plurals: “pennies” and “pence”.
19.Please note that this bill must be paid within ten days.
Here the writer draws attention to some fact which he wish​es the reader to notice and remember. Such use is restrict​ed to formal style, mainly written, and rarely occurs in spoken English.
Note is also occasionally used in the sense of “draw at​tention to by mentioning, record”
eg 20. He began his speech by noting the importance of the occasion.
Mark in the sense of “note” is archaic, except in the phrase (You) mark my words, meaning “Pay attention to and remember what I say (because future events will show that I was right)”. This is now used jocularly.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with the appropriate form of note, no​tice, take (no) notice (of), mark or pay attention (to).
1. — I didn’t . . . him come in. 2. Please . . . the change of address. 3. He ... that the door was still open. 4. —Was John at the meeting? I didn’t ... . 5. — What did the lecturer say about his work in the theatre? — I don’t know. I wasn’t ... at that moment. 6. —. . . the use of the present perfect in this type of sentence. 7. She ... a wor​ried expression on his face and wondered if anything had gone wrong. 8. Did you . . . whether the light was on? 9. —He’ll get into serious trouble one day. You . . . my words. 10. —Peter seems to think it’s all my fault. — Don’t ... . 11. He didn’t . . . how much the book cost. 12. Please . . . that late-comers will not be admitted to the auditorium until the interval. 13. (Teacher to pupil) — Stop looking out of the win​dow and ... . H. When the lift stopped nobody ... . 15. —I didn’t . . . that my coat was dirty until I got home.
Possibility, Opportunity, Chance

A possibility is simply something which is possible. It may be pleasant or unpleasant, or completely neutral in this respect.
eg  1. Is there any possibility of getting tickets for the ballet tonight?
     2.There is a possibility of rain
    3. They discussed the possibility of arranging extra classes.
   4. The possibility of running away never occurred to him.
  5.The possibility of her missing the plane worried him.
 6.We must face the possibility of failure/defeat.
7. — We could postpone the meeting for a week.
— Yes. That's a possibility.
Note that possibility is hardly ever used with the verb have (to have a possibility).
When something is not only possible but pleasant, profitable or necessary, opportunity or chance is preferable Here are some typical examples with opportunity.
8.  I have the opportunity of going to England for month next year.
6. They were given the opportunity of moving into a bigger flat.
7. Are there any opportunities for research in yow new job?
8. This course provides an excellent opportunity for teachers to bring themselves up to date with tin latest developments in audio-visual aids.
9. After the talk the chairman gave the audience an opportunity to ask questions.
10. Young people have many opportunities nowadays but they don’t always make the most of them.
11. He never misses an opportunity of practising his English.
In some cases, such as the last, opportunity means a favourable moment or occasion. Other examples are:
12. I should like to take this opportunity of thanking Mr. Roberts for his valuable help.
13.  Try to find an opportunity of asking him (to ask) about the new play.
14. I had no opportunity of asking (to ask) him.
As can be seen from the above examples, opportunity can be used in the following constructions:
· the/an opportunity of doing smth (ex.8,9,14-17)/to do smth (ex.12)
· an opportunity for smb. to do smth. — ex. 11
·  an opportunity for smth. — example 10
In the first type, where either the gerund (with of) or the infin​itive may be used, the gerund is more common, especially in sentences like no. 8 and no. 15. There seems to be no guiding principle here except what is habitual in a certain combination. As for the use of the definite or the indefinite article, there is practically no difference in meaning here.
Although opportunity is generally a countable noun, it is sometimes used uncountably. For example, it could be used in this way in example 10 above.
— Is there any opportunity for research in your new job?
Here the only difference is one of emphasis; instead of va​rious separate possibilities the speaker sees either one, or va​rious possibilities collectively.
Opportunity is used in this uncountable sense in the phrase equality of opportunity, which often occurs nowadays in the context of education and sociology. It means "equal opportunities for education, employment, promotion, etc. for everyone (whatever their social class, race, income of their parents, etc.).”
eg 18. Comprehensive schools have brought greater equal​ity of opportunity but not as much as some people hoped.
Opportunity is used with the following verbs: have, find, get, take, seize, grasp, make the most of, miss, waste, give, provide, afford (very formal), offer.
Adjectives commonly used with opportunity are: good, excellent, wonderful, golden (=exceptionally good), welcome, rare, unique.
Chance is often used in the same sense as “opportunity” in informal style. For example, it could be used in sentences 8, 9, 12, 14, 16 and 17 above. In the other sentences, how​ever, it is not possible, either because the situation is too formal (no. 11, 15) or (no. 10) because there would be a risk of confusion with the other meaning of chance, given below. In sentences like no. 13 chance is simply not usual. Here are some more sentences where chance is commonly used:
19.If I had a chance I’d change my job.
20.She jumped at the chance of appearing in the concert.
21. He didn’t give us a chance to object.

22. Be sure to go to the art gallery if you have a chance.

The other meaning of chance is connected with probability and corresponds to the Russian шанс.
 Eg.23.He has no chance of passing the exam/of success
24.  - Is there any chance of seeing the manager today?

 - No, I,m afraid there‘s no chance at all. He is very busy.

25. This is your last chance.

Exercise. Fill in the blanks with possibility ,opportunity or chance (sg. or pl.) with an article where necessary.

l. We do not often have  of hearing first-rate orchestras in the provinces. 2. l had . . . to work as an interpreter at an  inter national conference in the summer, which was very good practice for me. 3. There is…  that the lecture will be cancelled. 4. If you have  a .. go to Central Asia, don‘t miss it. 5. His English is so poor that he

has no . .. of passing the exam. 6. Please finish your talk at about half past eight, in order to give people . .. to ask questions. 7. Have you considered …of changing the title? 8. I should like to take this . . of thanking Mrs. Bennett for her cooperation. 9. Children at secondary schools had  . . . of going on to higher education. l0. There are many . . . for specialists in computer science nowadays. ll.

(To a doctor) - Is there any…  of recovery? l2. (A teacher to a student who has failed a test twice) —I’ll give you one more . .. . l3. Inter national youth festivals give young people from different countries . .. to understand each other better. l4. Equality of…  is very difficult  to achieve because of different home backgrounds. 15. It was her last . .. of a holiday. 16. There are unlimited … for development in this field.

Price, Cost, Value, Worth

Price means “the amount of money for which something is offered, sold or bought”.
eg 1. What is the price of this dress?
    2.They couldn't buy the house because the price was too high.
   3. The price of petrol has gone up.
  4. English people often complain about rising prices.
Cost as a verb expresses the same idea as the noun price.
eg 5. How much does this dress cost?
(=What is the price of this dress?)
        6.The picture cost £100.
     ( = The price of the picture was £100.)
In such cases cost is more colloquial than price.
Occasionally the noun cost is used in the same sense as price.

eg 7. If you buy more than 10 books we will reduce the cost of each book by 10%.
More often, however, cost has a different meaning, namely the amount of money needed to produce something or carry out some process, or provide some service.
eg 8. The cost of training doctors is borne by the state.
9. £10 will hardly cover the cost of materials.
10.  Many companies are trying to cut labour costs by reducing their work force.
(Note the use of the plural form here.)
The distinction between cost and price can be seen from the following example:
11. Higher production costs (including labour costs, cost of materials, etc.) usually lead to higher prices.
Cost price is used in such sentences as:
12. They bought the furniture at cost price.
(=direct from the factory, not at the retail price)
The cost of living rises when prices (and such things as rents, fares) rise.
Cost is also used figuratively in such sentences as:
13. Careless driving costs lives.
14. Her son's behaviour cost her many sleepless nights.
15. The cost in human lives and suffering of the Second World War was enormous.
16. He saved the child's life at the cost of his own.
Value means “the amount of money for which something could be sold, although it is not for sale at the moment of speaking”.
eg 17. The value of pictures by the Impressionists in​creased dramatically after the First World War.
15. I paid him £5 for the book but its real value must be at least £10.
16. The necklace turned out to be of very little value.
Good/poor value and value for money are used with reference to the worth of something compared with the amount paid.
eg 20. If your coat wore out in a year it certainly wasn’t good value.
     21.These excursions are very good value.
Value also has uses not connected with money. It means “the (degree of) usefulness of something”, especially in comparison with other things.
eg 22. We all know the value of regular exercise.
    23.His advice was of great value to me.
   24. This treatment has no value in advanced cases.
As a verb, value has two quite separate meanings:
(1) “have a high opinion of, consider to be valuable”; 
eg 25. I value his friendship very much.
(2) “estimate in money”;
eg 26. The house was valued at £10,000.
Worth is used mainly as a predicative adjective with the verb to be, meaning “to have a certain value". (See above.)
eg 27. We paid £5,000 for our house in 2010 but now it’s worth at least £8,000.
   28.He offered me the tape-recorder for £25 but 1 don't think it's worth it.
Worth could also be used in sentences 17, 18 and 19 above, instead of value, with no change of meaning, as follows:
   29.Pictures by the Impressionists became worth much more after the First World War.
  30.The book must be worth at least £10.
  31. The necklace turned out to be worth very little.
The choice between worth and value in such situations de​pends on whether one needs a noun or an adjective.
To be worth often occurs with the gerund in such sen​tences as:
 32.This book is (well) worth reading.
33.It’s not worth worrying about.
Worth as a noun does not usually refer to money.
eg 34. During her illness she realized her friend's true worth.
Exercise 1. Fill in the blanks with price, cost, value or worth and reword the sentences using a verb where this is possible without changing
the sense.
:1.
What is the ... of this suitcase? 2. He bought the table for £2 but its real ... is much higher. 3. What is the ... of running a car? 4. The ... of coffee rose sharply on the world market. 5. I refuse to pay such a high ....
6. The ... of living continues to rise. 7. These old books have considerable .... 8. The . . . of taking electri​city to the village was said to be too great. 9. Who will pay the ... of transport? 10. She did not know the ... of the ring, which had been left to her by her mother.
Exercise 2» A. Translate the following sentences into English.
1. Сколько стоят эти туфли? 2. Ему пришлось оплатить стоимость поврежденных (damaged) товаров. 3. Во многих западноевропейских странах цены на продукты питания постоянно растут. 4. Она заплати​ла за платье 500 рублей, но мне кажется, что оно того не  стоит. 5. Ремонт этих часов будет стоить пятьдесят рублей. (Use to have . . . re​paired.) 6. Стоимость перевозки—100 рублей. 7. Это ему ничего не стоит. 8. В цену входит стоимость установки (Use installation.) 9. Этот фильм стоит посмотреть. 10. Мебель оценили в 5000 рублей.
В. Translate the following passage into English, using the vocabu​lary given at the end.
Однажды Луиджи Гроссо, итальянский художественный критик, работающий в Лондоне, обнаружил в маленьком антикварном магазине картину, подписанную «Винцент». Картина стоила 35 фунтов. Гроссо не стал строить иллюзии по поводу подлинности, но купил картину потому, что она ему понравилась. Художественный институт Куртоулд после тщательного изучения сообщил Гроссо, что его Ван Гог под​линный и цена ему 150 тысяч фунтов, а может, больше.
ап antique shop; to have no illusions about smth. /smb.; authentic, authenticity; an authentic/original Van Gogh; The Courtauld Institute
Replace, Substitute

Replace and substitute can both be translated as заменять in certain cases, but they are used in different ways.
 Replace has three meanings:
(1) “put back (in its place)”;
eg 1. He replaced the book on the shelf.
    2.The operator told me to replace the receiver.(=of the telephone)
This is formal style for put back/down,
(2) “put smth. in place of smth. else”;
    eg 3. If you lose this book you'll have to replace it. (=buy another copy of the same book)
4. The equipment is very old and must be replaced. (=New equipment must be bought.)
5. (Instructions for an exercise) Replace the under​lined words with expressions from the text.
( = Put expressions from the text instead of the underlined words.)
(3) “take the place of smth., smb.”;
eg 6. The motor car gradually replaced the horse-drawn carriage.
    7.When Mr Smith retired, Mr Brown replaced him (as manager).
Passive use is also fairly common in such sentences.

eg 8. The horse-drawn carriage was gradually replaced by the motor car.
    9.When Mr. Smith retired he was replaced by Mr. Brown
Substitute was originally used only as a noun, meaning a person or thing performing some function instead of anoth​er. Here are some examples of its nominal use in modern English.
10. Margarine can be used as a substitute for butter.
11.Television is  a poor/no substitute for live entertainment.
12.Various substitutes for leather are now available, but few of them really look like leather.
13.If you cannot attend the meeting (yourself) you must send a substitute.
Note the use of the preposition for in examples 10 and 11.

As a verb, substitute means “to use, put, etc. instead of something else”.
eg 14. If necessary you may substitute margarine for but​ter. (=use margarine instead of butter).
        15.The thieves stole the necklace and substituted a fake (for it), so that the theft would not be discov​ered immediately. (=put a fake there instead of the original necklace)
        16.(Instructions in an exercise) Rewrite the following sentences, substituting a relative clause for the ad​verbial clauses in italics. ( = put a relative clause instead of the adverbial clauses)
The difference between substitute and replace (meaning no. 2) lies in the nature of the object. With substitute the object is the thing which is put instead of something else, whereas with replace the object is the thing instead of which something else is put. In some cases the same idea can be expressed by either verb, but the construction differs. For example, sentences 15 and 16 above could be rephrased using replace, as follows:
17. The thieves stole the necklace and replaced it with/by a fake.
18.Rewrite the following sentences, replacing the ad​verbial clause in italics by a relative clause.
With reference to people, substitute is used to mean “take smb.’s place”.
eg 19. Mary substituted for the teacher who was ill.
17. I‘т substituting for Mr. Brown.
Substitute differs from replace (meaning no. 3; here not only in that it is followed by the preposition for but also in that a person who substitutes for somebody else does so only temporarily, until the other person can carry out his duties again, whereas someone who replaces another person usually does so permanently. (See example 7 above.)
The best way to remember the distinctions between these two words is to memorize some simple examples such as those given above, where the situation makes the meaning dear.
Exercise. Reword the following sentences using replace or substitute. In some cases there may be two versions.
I. Electric light soon took the place of gaslight. 2. They used plas​tic instead of metal, because it was lighter. 3. Martin attended the meet​ing instead of John, because the latter was too busy. 4. Who will take Mr. Fowler’s place as head of department when he resigns? 5. The old wooden houses were demolished and brick ones built in their place. 6. Instead of the nouns in the following sentences put pronouns. 7. If you have no fresh milk you may use condensed milk instead. 8. He put the key back in the drawer. 9. They don’t like rice so we cooked potatoes instead. 10. Evans played in the match instead of Bullock, who was in​jured. 11. Nowadays scientists often use synthetic materials instead of natural ones. 12. After the Revolution collective farms took the place of private estates.
Some, A Few, Several

The distinction between some and any has been dealt with by various writers but little attention seems to have been paid to the use of some in contrast to a few or several.
There are sentences where either some, a few or several can be used to mean an indefinite number (with countable nouns).
eg 1. I bought some/a few/several books today.
    2.After dinner he wrote some/а few/several letters.
   3.There are some/а few/several shops in this street.
  4.She invited some/а few/several of her colleagues to the party.
 5.Some/А few/Several people complained about the delay.
6.We had to wait for some/a few/several hours.
7.They asked the lecturer some/a few/several ques​tions.
Some is the most neutral here, the least specific. It sim​ply means more than two, and although the number implied is not usually large, this is not specified. In many cases it is the plural form of the indefinite article or the pronoun or numeral one.
eg 8. I bought a book/some books today.

9. A child was (Some children were) playing in the garden.
   10. She invited one/some of her colleagues.
Here all the stress falls on the following noun and some is in its weak form , except when functioning as a pro​noun (example 10).
The strong form of some has other uses, too. First​ly, it may denote a considerable amount or number, or at least more than one would expect.
  eg 11. I shall be away for some time. (=rather a long time)
       12.The village was some distance from the railway station.
      13.They drove some miles out of their way.
     14.It was some days before the news reached them.
This use of some seems to be confined to nouns denoting distance or length of time (or other units of measurement).
It should also be mentioned that several is more common in this type of sentence in non-formal style (with count- nouns). (See below.)
Secondly, it may be used in contrast to other(s), the rest or all.
eg 15. Some children learn to read very quickly.
     16. — Did you do all the exercises?
— No, only some of them.
Thirdly, it has an adverbial use, meaning about, approximately.
eg 17. That was some twenty years ago.
     18. There were some fifteen people there.
However, this is not common and confined to formal style.

A few and several are more specific than the weak for of some, since they denote a small number rather than simply an indefinite number. The difference between them lies in their emphasis. A few means simply a small number (unless modified by only or some other word), whereas several im​plies that the number, although small, is larger than one might expect in the circumstances. Compare the following sentences:
19a) After dinner I wrote some letters.
(How many is not important; all the emphasis is on letters.)
                 b)After dinner I wrote a few letters.
(A small number is specified, although not stressed.)
                c)After dinner I wrote several letters.
(More than you might expect, more than usual, although not many.)
20a) She invited some of her colleagues.
   b)She invited a few of her colleagues.
  c)She invited several of her colleagues.
A few hardly differs from some in such sentences and the two are practically interchangeable. However, there are cases where a few is preferable to some.

eg 21. I should like to say a few words about my visit to England.
Here the fact that the number is small has a certain import​ance. With nouns denoting distances, weights, periods of time and other measurements, a few is also preferable because, as already mentioned, some in such cases generally means a considerable number. Here are some examples:
                   22. They drove on for a few miles.
                  23.We picked a few
pounds of
blackberries
                 24.He left the
room
for a few
minutes.
                 25.She's gone
away
for a few
days.
Few can be used
with
only to show that the number is smaller than expected or desired.
eg 26. There are only a {very) few eggs left.
     27.We went out to pick mushrooms but we only found a few.
On the other hand, few can be used with still to give a posi​tive emphasis (though less positive than several).
eg 28. There are still a few tickets left.
In the expressions quite a few and a good few the word few loses its meaning of “a small number”. These expressions mean a fairly large number, although less than many.
                      29.We found/ quite a/a good  few mushrooms.
                     30.There were/ quite a/a good  few people at the concert.
Quite a few is more common than a good few.
A few is preferable to some in answers to questions where the verb is not repeated.
31.- Did you do any exercises? 
     
          
- Yes, a few/ quite a few.

Some is possible here but not usual.
Several, as mentioned above, also means a small number but with a positive emphasis, sometimes implying more than one might expect or consider necessary. Here are some more examples:
                     32.I rang him several times but nobody answered.
                     33.We walked for several miles before we found the house.
                    34.Several people were injured in the explosion.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with some, a few, or several, in the case of some differentiating between the strong form and the weak form . Although in some sentences there is more than one pos​sibility, one word is on the whole more appropriate than the others.
1. After the lecture he showed us ... slides. 2. — I’m surprised уou haven’t heard of him. He’s published ... books. 3. — I’d like to say words about the famous English landscape painter John Constable. 4 Would you mind waiting (for) ... minutes? 5. ... of the applicants v very well qualified. 6.—If you’re hungry I’ll make ... sandwiches He was ill for ... time and the publication of the book was delayed;. 8. —Did you enjoy the stories? — ... of them. 9. I’ve told him times not to ring me late in the evening but he takes no notice. 10. Were there any questions? — Yes, ... . 11. — I’m going away for days tomorrow. 12. — I didn’t think there were many plums on that tree. — Oh yes. There were quite ... . We picked ... pounds. 13. — I brought you ... flowers. 14. ... people find him irritating. 15. Michael very gifted. He can play ... instruments.
Town, City

Town is the more general word and the more widely used. It can be applied to any centre of population larger than a village, sometimes including those which have the status of city. Here are some examples of usage:

1.She was born in a small/large town in the north of England.

      2.Which is the most important town in the area?

      3.We visited many English towns.
Town is often contrasted with country.
eg 4. Would you rather live in a town or in the country?
    5.When he retired they moved out (of the town) into the country.
   6.The family had both a town house and a country house.
Without an article it often denotes the most important town (or city) in the speaker’s neighbourhood, or the centre of the one in which he lives (if he lives in the suburbs).
eg 7. I’m going into town today to do some shopping.
    8.I saw him in town a few days ago.
Formerly town was frequently used with reference to Lon​don, even when it was not the nearest city, with up denot​ing movement to the capital.
ex.9The next day Mr. Bennett went up to town (from York) to consult his solicitor.
  10.They usually spent the winter in town.

  11.Mr. Irving is out of town for the weekend.

However, this use is now comparatively rare, except when London is the speaker’s nearest city. In other cases London is used instead.
City is used loosely to denote a large and important town. Strictly speaking, however, a city in Britain is a town which has been created a city by royal charter. Such charters were often given to towns with a cathedral (the most impor​tant church in the area) and therefore most cathedral towns are cities. The fact that some English cities are compara​tively small can be explained as follows. They were creat​ed several centuries ago, when they were important centres, but they gradually lost their importance and only grew slowly, whereas other towns grew very quickly and overtook the old cities in population and importance, especially during the Industrial Revolution. These large industrial towns were eventually given the status of city and the older cities kept their title, too.
The official name of a city begins with the City of ..., for example, the City of York. However, the City of is includ​ed only in very formal style (official notices, laws, regula​tions, etc.). In America, however, City sometimes follows the name of the place, for example, New York City, Kansas City, and is included in all cases when it is necessary to dis​tinguish the city from the state of the same name, in which it is situated (for example, New York City — New York State, Kansas City — Kansas State).
The City in Britain is the City of London, that is, the eastern part of central London governed by the Lord Mayor and Corporation, now the financial and commercial centre.
With reference to foreign countries it is the custom to use city of the larger and more important towns, and of an​cient and historic ones, although there is some variation here.
City, not town, is used with the word capital (capital city), although capital is often used alone in this sense.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with town or city (sg. or pl.). Note that in a few cases both words are possible.

1. What ... do yon come from? 2. There was no doctor in the vil​lage so he had to cycle to the nearest .... 3. Most banks have their head office in the ... (of London). 4. Moscow is a very beautiful ... . 5. We had lunch in ... and then went to the cinema. 6. They drove through one ... after another. 7. We went on a tour of the old ... . 8. She enjoyed the peace and quiet of the country after the noise and bustle of the ... .9. A concert was given by the ... of Birmingham Symphony Orchestra. 10. Shall we go to ... tomorrow? 11. Do they live in New York ...? 12. — Is Norwich a big ...?— Yes. In fact it’s а ... . 13. People from all the ... and villages in the area took part in the competition. 14. Vienna is the capital ... of Austria. 15. We visited the ancient ... of Samarkand, Bukhara and Khiva.
Treat (v and n)

The verb treat means “To buy something for someone else as a friendly gesture, with the idea of giving him pleas​ure.
eg 1. Let me treat you to an ice-cream. (=buy you one)
     2.I'll treat you. (=pay for you, e.g. at a restaurant, theatre, etc.) or: It's/This is my treat.
    3. As it was her birthday she treated everybody to cof​fee and cakes at the nearby cafe.
One may also treat oneself.
eg 4. I treated myself to lunch at an Italian restaurant.
    5.She treated herself to a new dress.
This means “to buy for oneself something which one does not usually have, something exceptional and pleasant”.
Thus treat, unlike the Russian verb, угощать is usually (although not necessarily — see below) connected with money, with buying or paying for something. It is therefore incor​rect to use treat with reference to food or drink offered to guests at home. English people do not say:

·  She treated us to a nice dinner. 
· Let me treat you to some cake.

· Treat yourself to some grapes. 
but, for example:
6.She gave us a nice dinner.
7. Would you like some cake or: Do have some cake.
8. Have some grapes or:
Help yourself to (some) grapes. — if the dish is left on the table.
These sentences do not express the full idea of угощать but this is impossible in English.
Another difference between treat and угощать is that treat does not necessarily refer to food and drink. For exam​ple, it may be used when someone pays for someone else’s theatre or cinema ticket.

eg 9. —1 hardly ever go to Covent Garden now. The tickets are so expensive.
                — I’ll treat you for your birthday
Here treat corresponds to приглашать.
As mentioned above, treat is not always connected with payment, at least not directly; it may mean simply something exceptional and pleasant.
eg 10. We're treating the children to a day in London. 
In some cases no payment is involved at all.
eg 11. I treated myself to a day off yesterday. (of a person working at home, for example, or a housewife)
Treat may be used as a noun in situations of this type.
eg 12. The children were allowed to stay up late as a special treat.
    13.It's a real treat for me to spend an evening just relaxing.
Treat in such situations (examples 10-13) appears to have no Russian equivalent.
Exercise 1. In which of the following situations can treat be used? Make up sentences which could be used in or about each situation, using the examples given above as models.
1. John took his parents out to dinner at a restaurant. 2. Christine offers her guests some coffee. 3. When Pat went to see her friends she took them some jam she had made. 4. Paul took his niece and nephew to the zoo. 5. Diana asks her guests to have some strawberries. 6. Brenda bought herself some French perfume. 7. Philip gave his neig​bours some tomatoes he had grown in his garden. 8. Susan made a cake and asked her friends in the hostel to have some. 9. Janet paid for her friend’s dinner at a restaurant as well as her own. 10. Andrew bought himself a rather expensive record which he very much wanted.
Exercise 2. Translate the following sentences into English.
1. Мальчик выбежал во двор и угостил леденцами всех своих приятелей. 2. Она часто пекла пироги и угощала соседей. 3. Бутер​броды, фрукты перед вами. Угощайтесь! 4. По вечерам его часто при​глашали в ресторан, где угощали великолепным вином, фруктами и всевозможными деликатесами (delicacies). 5. Скоро варенье будет го​тово, и я угощу тебя. 6. Она повела детей в кафе и угостила их мо​роженым. 7. В Сибири меня часто угощали пельменями. 8. Старуха угостила солдата яблоком. 9. Я хочу угостить вас грибами, которые я сам мариновал. 10. Гостей пригласили в ресторан и угощали рус​скими блинами и икрой.
Useful, Helpful, Good (for the Health)

Useful is applied to such things as tools, household uten​sils and gadgets (electric mixers, toasters, etc.), books, maps, etc., information, advice, ideas. Here are some examples of usage:

1.Thank you for the potato-peeler. It will be very useful.

      2.Alan always gives useful presents but Margaret prefers something decorative.

      3.It's a very useful book.

      4.I find the index useful.

      5.There are some useful exercises in this book.

      6.John gave me some useful advice about record-play​ers.
Useful is also used of clothes, meaning that they can be worn often or on various occasions:
            7.This is a very useful jacket. It goes with everything.
Note the expressions to find smth. useful (see example 4) and to come in useful, which often occurs in colloquial English in the sense of “prove to be useful”.
           8.The money I earned will come in (very) useful (for my holiday).
Useful is sometimes applied to people in colloquial style, meaning “able to help; capable”.
eg 9. Peter's a useful person to have around.
    10. Johnson is a useful member of the team.
The expression “make oneself useful” also colloquial, means “do something to help”.
  eg 11. (When some friends are preparing for a party)
— Don't just sit there. Make yourself useful. Cut some bread, or lay the table
On the whole, however, helpful, meaning “willing to help’', is more often used with reference to people.
eg 12. Angela is a very helpful person.
    13.The librarian was very helpful. She showed me how to use the catalogue.
   14.(Customer to shop assistant) — Thank you for be​ing so helpful.
Note that helpful is usually preceded by an adverb of degree such as very, most or so.
In the sense of “beneficial (to the health)”, neither useful nor helpful is used, but good for you.
eg 15. You should cat more fruit. It’s very good for you.
    16.Swimming is good for you.
Where appropriate the pronouns me, him/her, etc. are used.
         17.It will be good for me to go to bed early.
Good for you/me, etc. are characteristic of informal and semiformal style. In formal style good for the health or bene​ficial is used instead.
eg 18. Raw vegetables are very good for the health.
    19. Massage is often beneficial in such cases.
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with useful, helpful or good for you.
1. 1 found the discussion very .... 2. I want to give her some​thing ... for her birthday. 3. —- Fiat up your cabbage, Brian. It’s very ... . 4. Paul will be a ... person to have on the committee. 5. I didn’t know what to choose but the assistant was very ... . 6. — Don't throw that box away. It may come in ... . 7. This book will be particularly ... to teachers. 8. — This is such a ... skirt. 9. It will be very ... to go skiing regularly. We shall get plenty of exercise and fresh air. 10. When I go to see my friends I try to make myself .... 11. — This salad is very nice. — It’s very .... too. 12. He finds the electric drill he bought very ... .
Wage, Salary, Pay, Stipend, Fee, Royalties

These words are all used to denote money paid for work but they are not interchangeable. Their usage is as follows: wage(s), salary.
Most employed people are paid a wage or a salary. The difference between these two words, and the forms of pay​ment they denote, is related to the traditional distinction between a trade, that is, a manual occupation or other occu​pation not requiring advanced study,' and a profession, that is, an occupation requiring advanced study, especially a university degree. Thus factory-workers and other manual workers, clerks, typists and other office-workers below mana​gement level, shop assistants, and so on receive wages, whereas professional people (for example, teachers, doctors, lawyers, managers) receive salaries.
However, wage and salary are not synonyms, differenti​ated only according to the type of occupation. Wages are usually paid weekly, in cash, whereas salaries are usually paid monthly, by cheque. Thus a factory-worker or a typist, for example, receives a small sealed envelope or wage packet every week (usually on Thursday or Friday), inside which is the money he or she has earned and a slip of pa​per (or wage slip) giving details about how the amount has been calculated, including deductions for income tax, etc.
The wages of many industrial workers are made up of several elements: their basic wage, which is the fixed sum they receive for a certain number of hours (usually 40-44 hours a week) at the basic rate (of pay); overtime pay, for any extra hours, which are paid at a higher rate, called the overtime rate; and sometimes a bonus (an additional payment for a particular reason, for example, higher productivity). Thus their wages vary at least slightly from week to week.
The plural form wages is widely used even when the sense is singular.
eg 1. He went to get his wages.
    2. His wages are £130 a week.
The distinction between wage end wages with singular mean​ing is not clear cut. However, the following tendencies can be observed in practice.
The singular form is mainly confined to cases where the word is modified by an adjective or other attribute.
eg 3. The minimum wage in the ship-building industry is £... a week.
Other expressions with wage include: 
a good/decent/regular/living wage.

 Note. Living here means “enough to live on”.
Even when there is an attribute the plural form is often used, at least with such adjectives as good, decent and regu​lar (but not, for example, with minimum or living).
eg 4. He earns good/decent/regular wages.
The singular form wage is usual when it is itself attribut​ive, as in:
-- wage packet — see above
· wage increase/rise
· wage freeze= a (usually temporary) ban on wage increases
· wage-earner one who works for wages (contrasted with the salaried classes)
As stated above, salaries are paid to professional people, monthly, by cheque. At the end of the month such people are given a cheque for a certain amount, or, more often, simply a slip of paper informing them that this sum has been paid into their bank account. This slip also shows the deductions which have been made, for example, for income tax, like the wage slip described above. When a person re​ceives his salary slip he can go to the bank and draw out all or part of the money, and write cheques to other people or institutions; for example, he can pay his rent, his gas, electricity and telephone bills by cheque, and pay for large purchases in shops by cheque, too. Thus a person who receives a salary must have a bank account, whereas a wage- earner need not (and usually does not).

Salaries are not so closely linked to the number of hours worked as wages. Salaried people often (although not always) have to work a certain number of hours a week but if they work extra hours they are not paid any more.
Sometimes salaries are expressed as a yearly figure, for sample, £15,000 p. a. (Lat. per annum = per year). This the usual practice in advertisements for jobs in newspa​pers. Speaking about a person’s income we can say, for example, “Hе earns £15,000 a year”. However, this does not lean that he is paid yearly, although the amount may include either income besides his regular salary.

The use of pay as a noun was formerly restricted to the armed forces. Hornby gives the following definition: “Money paid for regular work or services, esp. in the armed forces. ‘Pay’ is used instead of ‘wages’ and ‘salary’ in the Army, Navy and Air Force)”. During recent years, however, it has come to be widely used as a general term, including both wages and salaries. There are probably three reasons for this development:
(1) It enables one to avoid using “wages and salaries” in gen​eral statements relating to all employed people;
eg 5. Higher pay usually leads to higher prices.
(2) The distinction between those jobs in which workers re​ceive wages and those where they receive a salary (the old distinction between a trade and a profession) is not as clear cut as it used to be. Using pay avoids this difficulty in borderline cases.
(3) Pay is a short word and therefore especially favoured by journalists.
Thus pay can be used either as a general term, as in example 5 above, or instead of wage(s) or salary/ies in such sentences as:
6. Miners are demanding higher pay. (= wages)
7. Discussions about teachers' pay will take place next week. (= salaries)
Pay is used in many expressions, especially in the mass media but also in conversation. Here are some of the most common.
· pay day—the day on which one is paid (There is no cor​responding expression with wage or salary.)
· pay packet — wage packet (see above)
This expression may also be used to denote the wages themselves.
eg 8. The latest rise will add £3 to the miners' weekly pay packet.

-    pay slip = wage/salary slip (see above)
· pay cheque = salary cheque (see above)
· pay rise/increase
· pay claim — a demand for higher pay
eg 9. The dockers have put in a 15% pay claim.
· pay offer—an offer of a pay increase, made by the em​ployers in response to a pay claim (It is nearly always lower than the amount demanded.)
eg 10. The electricity workers have accepted/rejected the management's latest pay offer.
· pay talks/negotiations — talks/negotiations about pay
· equal pay (for equal work)
In practice this usually means equal pay for men and women doing the same work.
· pay parity  — equal pay for workers in different companies or industries doing the same or comparable work.
eg 11. Drivers employed by British Road Services (a state- owned corporation) are demanding pay parity with drivers in the private sector.
· gross pay — pay before deductions for income tax, etc.
· nett pay — pay after deductions, i. e. what a worker ac​tually receives
· take-home pay — a colloquial equivalent of  net pay
Pay is also used of money paid not for work but instead of work.
· sick pay — paid to workers who are ill
· holiday pay — paid to workers who are on holiday
Note also the expression  “holiday with pay”.
eg 12. Employees of this company are entitled to three weeks’  holiday with pay/ paid holiday.
· unemployment pay — paid to those who are unemployed
· strike pay — paid by unions to workers on strike
stipend
This word was formerly used in the sense of salary but is now rare. The COD defines it as “fixed periodical money allowance for work done, salary, esp. clergyman’s official income” and Hornby as “(esp. clergyman’s) salary”.

The adjective stipendiary is sometimes used, meaning“ receiving a salary, paid for one’s work”. For example, stipend​iary magistrates are those who are paid for their work (they are professional lawyers) in contrast to ordinary magistrates, or Justices of the Peace, who are not.
Note that the money allowance paid to students by the state is called a grant.
fee

This is used of payments made to doctors, lawyers, teach​ers, architects and other professional people for their serv​ices, if these services are given on a private basis. Unlike a salary, a fee is not a regular payment but payment for certain work. In Britain doctors who work within the Nation​al Health Service receive a salary from the state; those who work privately receive fees from their patients. Private schools charge fees and can be called fee-paying schools. Colleg​es and universities, although not private, also charge fees. However, these fees do not represent the full cost of the education provided and the fees of many students (all except those whose parents have high incomes) are paid by the local authority, in addition to the maintenance grant.
royalty
Royalty is used as a countable noun to denote a payment made by a publisher to an author, editor or composer for each copy of a book, musical work, etc. sold, or by a per​former or producer for each public performance of a play or musical work.
eg a. The publisher offered him a royalty of 10% (of the price of the book on all copies sold), b. He received £500 in royalties.
The plural form is more common than the singular.
Another, similar meaning of royalty is ‘The sum paid to the proprietor of a patented invention for the use of it.”
Exercise. Fill in the blanks with wage, salary, pay, or royalty (sg. or pi.), giving alternatives where possible. The occupation of the person(s) to whom payment is made is given in brackets where necessary.

1. Train drivers are demanding higher .... 2. The workers com​plained that they couldn’t live on their .... (factory-workers) 3. He was a skilled craftsman and earned good .... 4. His ... is £250 a month. 5. He could not afford to pay the solicitor’s .... 6. He spends about a quarter of his ... on rent, (teacher) 7. It’s . . . day tomorrow. 8. Do miners receive high . . . ? 9. The government announced a . . . freeze. 10. Talks about nurses’. . . will continue tomorrow. 11. What is the minimum ... in the building industry? 12. He was offered a more in​teresting job but at a slightly lower .... (engineer) 13. In England only best-selling writers can live on their ... . 14. Bill felt very proud of himself when he received his first . . . packet at the end of the week. 15. Public school ... are now so high that only a small mi​nority of parents can afford to send their children there.

Work, Job, Position, Post, Situation

All these words can be used to denote paid employment. 
Work is the most general. It is uncountable in this sense and is used in such sentences as:

1. I enjoy my work.
2. I find my work very  interesting/boring/tiring, etc. (I find my work very  interesting/boring/tiring, etc. 
3.He's looking for work.
4.He's out of work.
5.The principle of equal pay for equal work has now been accepted.
Work is also used in an extended sense to mean one’s place of work.
eg 6. —Where's John?
— At work.
           7. What time do you get to work/home from work.
          8. I met him on the way to work.
However, work does not necessarily denote something for which one is paid, as 

illustrated by the following examples.
         9.There's always a lot of work to be done in the gar​den.
        10.He said that shopping and cooking was women's work.
It is also used of schoolchildren and students.
eg 11. Peter's work has improved this term.
     12.Helen hasn't done much work lately.
Remember that work is uncountable here, too. Speaking of an exercise, composition, etc. written by a schoolchild or stu​dent, we use a piece of work, or simply work, or specify the type.
    a good piece of work.
eg 13. This is | a good translation/composition, 
   good work, etc.
          14.Give your work/translations/compositions/exercises in.
         15.You have only done two pieces of (written) work this term.
In the case of written tests and examinations, we use paper.
eg 16. Give your papers in now, please.
    17.Have you marked the (exam) papers?
A work (pl. works) means "‘something created by an ar​tist (a book, picture, piece of music, etc.)”, “a work of art”.

eg 18. This is one of Khrennikov's latest works.
    19.Some people say that the picture is a work of genius.
Job is a countable noun which formerly meant only some particular piece of work or a task which has to be done, usually something practical and not very large, for example, cleaning the windows or mowing the lawn or doing some minor repairs. Job is still used in this sense.
eg 20. I’ve got a lot of jobs to do (in the house).

21.I'd like you to do a little job for me. Would you mind wiping these glasses?
One may do jobs oneself or pay someone else to do them. 
An odd job man is one who does various jobs in the house and garden.
Nowadays, however, job is increasingly used to denote regular, paid employment (instead of post, position or situa​tion).
    22.I’ve applied for a job as a teacher/teaching job.

    23.She got a job as a secretary when she left college.

    24.It's a very
interesting
job.

    25.He lost his job.

    26.He's looking for a job.

    27.I want to change my job.

    28.She's constantly changing jobs.
Note. Avoid using several jobs as in She’s changed several jobs.
   29.A lot of jobs are advertised in newspapers.

  30.A woman has to do her job and run the house as well.
In some sentences job and work are interchangeable, job be​ing countable and work uncountable.
eg 31. My job/work is very interesting/boring/tiring, etc.
    32.I enjoy my job/work.
   33.He's looking for a job/work.
In sentences where only a countable noun is appropriate, how​ever, only job is possible, for example, in sentences 22, 25 and 27-30 above.
This use of job is still considered to be colloquial by some people but it is spreading fast to more formal style. It is increasingly used in the mass media, in such sentences as:
         34.The Liverpool factory will close next month, with the loss of 2,000 jobs.
       35.The government promised to create more jobs.
Post is still preferred to job in formal style with reference to professional people (that is, teachers, doctors, lawyers and others with a degree or similar qualification).
eg 36. The post of chief librarian has become vacant.
     37.He applied for a teaching post.
(Cf. example 22 above.)
The stylistic distinction between post and job can be well illustrated by the following sentences from “The Word Child” by Iris Murdoch. The first is taken from the narrative and the second from a dialogue (about the same situation):
           38. I knew that my 
chances of getting an academic post, at my age
and with my record, were nil.

39.— I can't get a
university job now, Crystal, that's just a dream.

Position is used in a similar but somewhat wider sense, not being confined to professional people. It is also formal.
eg 40. He applied for the position of hotel manager.

Situation was formerly used to denote a position as a domestic servant or similar, but is now archaic except in the expressions SITUATIONS VACANT and SITUATIONS WANTED. These are printed in newspapers at the top of columns containing advertisements for jobs available and requests for jobs respectively. These columns do not cover all types of occupation but only manual, clerical, secretarial, domestic work, or other work not requiring advanced training. Professional posts are advertised under the heading APPOINTMENTS.
Exercise 1. Fill in the blanks with work, job, post, position or situation (sg. or pl.).
1. What’s
his ... ? 2.
Over three million people are now out of . . . in Britain. 3.
 I can’t stop now. I’ve got
too much ... to do. 4. Applications for the ... of chief engineer must be received by March 31st.5. I must stay at home this evening and do all my ... — ironing, mending, and so on. 6. If you’re looking for a ... as a typist why don’t you read the advertisements in the evening paper, under ... VACANT? 7. I’ve been offered a . . . with a shipping company. 8. A lot of married women have . . . nowadays.
 9. The programme included several new ... by British composers. 10.
I can’t tell you your marks because I haven’t marked your . . . yet.
Exercise 2. Translate the following sentences into English.

1. Моя работа мне нравится. 2. Он ищет более интересную работу. 3. Она устроилась работать машинисткой в издательстве. 4. Ему пред​ложили место заведующего. 5. —У меня сегодня очень много работы. 6. (Преподаватель на занятиях) — Сдайте работы, пожалуйста. 7. Он хочет сменить работу. 8. Он на работе. 9. Ирина еще не пришла с работы. 10. Этот пейзаж — одна из его последних работ. 11. —Та​ня, вы написали очень хорошую работу, получили отлично. 12. Он слишком часто меняет работу.
Worker, Workman, Working Man

In the context of industry worker usually denotes a man​ual worker or one who operates a machine.
eg 1. Workers at the Ford Motor Company have decided to go on strike for higher pay.
     2.The electricity workers are asking for a 25% pay rise.
     3.The shop steward urged the workers to attend the meeting.
It also has this meaning in political economy.
eg 4. Workers of the world, unite.
However, worker may be used of anyone who works, and is therefore rarely used alone as a general term in other contexts. For example, He's a worker is unlikely to be un​derstood in Britain as He's a manual worker. In fact, this sentence has another meaning, namely He works hard (what​ever his job is). Instead English people say He's a factory worker or, if he does not work in a factory, He's a carpent​er/ plumber/ electrician, etc.
Manual worker could be used in the above example, but it is more common as a collective term in such sentences as:
         5.The average earnings of manual workers in Brit​ain are still lower than those of white-collar work​ers.
        6.Many manual workers have been made redundant by automation.
With reference to social class, the expression working class is used.
eg 7. He's working class.
Note the absence of article here.

        8.He comes from a working-class family.
       9.They live in a working-class district.
     10.The proportion of students from working-class homes is still very low.
     11.Working-class people rarely vote Conservative
The working class is naturally also used in its original, sub​stantival sense.
eg 12. The speaker promised to protect the interests of the working class.
     13.Large resorts such as Blackpool are especially pop​ular with the working class(es).
The plural form working classes is often used without any apparent difference of meaning. (The SOED gives “chiefly pl.”)
Worker is used in various compounds besides factory worker and manual worker. Some of the most common are:
· office worker
· white-collar worker = office worker, especially in contrast to a factory worker (who wears overalls)
· mineworker/steelworker/farm worker, etc.
· research worker
Except for research worker, compounds with worker are not often used with reference to the professions although such expressions as cinema worker sometimes occur. Such expressions as those listed above are mainly used in the plural, collectively.
eg 14. Office workers usually start work at 9 a.m., al​though in London many start later, at 9.30 or 10.
Workman is used as a general term to include such manual workers as builders, decorators, plumbers, electricians, etc.
eg 15. The workmen brought the materials on Friday and promised to start the job on Monday.
However, we cannot use workman to state a man’s occupa​tion (He's a workman) or with reference to class (=He's working class.). Since women are rarely if ever employed as builders, decorators, etc. in Britain, there is no feminine form.
Workman also has a meaning similar to craftsman in such sentences as:
       16.He's a good/poor/skilled workman.
      17.A poor workman blames his tools. (a common saying). A bad workman quarrels with his tools.
Working man is sometimes used to denote a member of the working classes.
eg 18. Greyhound-racing is sometimes said to be the work​ing man's substitute for horse-racing.
     19. The working man's drink is beer.
It also occurs in the expression working man’s club, a type of social (= recreational) club fairly widespread in the north of England.
Sometimes, however, working man seems to refer to any man who works.
Working woman is used mainly in the wider sense, mean​ing a woman who goes out to work (whatever her job), as opposed to one who stays at home, a housewife.
eg 20. The number of working women in Britain has increased enormously since the war.
Working wife/mother are also used in this general sense.
eg 21. An increasing number of working wives expect their husbands to do their share of the shopping and housework.
     22.More nursery schools are needed to make life easi​er for working mothers.
Working people is sometimes used to denote members of the working class but more often in a wider sense, meaning all those who work. The exact meaning depends on the context.
Exercise. Translate the following sentences into English.
1. Он рабочий. 2. Она из рабочей семьи. 3. Петров очень хороший работник. 4. Многие рабочие нашего завода занимаются спортом. 5. Находясь в Цюрихе, Ленин несколько раз выступал перед швейцар​скими рабочими. 6. На конференции выступали режиссеры, актеры, опе​раторы и другие работники кино. 7. 1 Мая — праздник трудящихся всего мира. 8. До конца смены рабочие закончили разгрузку кирпи​ча. 9. Докладчик отметил, что экономика во многом зависит от ра​ботников сельского хозяйства. 10. Наша Конституция гарантирует пра​во на пенсию каждому трудящемуся. 11. Снова бастуют работники английских железных дорог. 12. В этом районе Лондона живут в основном рабочие.
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a comfortable seat


one in which the body feels at ease


6. a comfortable train


one with soft seats, etc.


7. a comfortable dress


one which does not restrict one’s movements





a convenient seat


one which is, for exam�ple, easy to reach (in a bus, theatre, etc.)


a convenient train


one which runs at a suitable time


a convenient dress


one which can be worn on various occasions, or is easy to wash, etc.





eg 2. — He works for
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